Public Document Pack

GATESHEAD HEALTH AND WELLBEING
BOARD AGENDA
Friday, 29 April 2022 at 9.00 am in the Council Chamber - Civic Centre
From the Chief Executive, Sheena Ramsey
Item
Business
1

Apologies for Absence

2

Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 March 2022 are attached for approval, together
with the Action List

3

Declarations of Interest
Members of the Board to declare an interest in any particular agenda item.

Items for Discussion
4

Update on ICS Development and Implications for Place Systems - Dan
Jackson

5

Climate Change Strategy for Gateshead - Anneliese Hutchinson / Lucy
Greenfield (Pages 11 - 38)

6

Covid-19 Response & Vaccine Update - Alice Wiseman / Lynn Wilson

7

Gateshead Cares System Board Update - Mark Dornan / All
Assurance Items

8

For Information - Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual
Report 2020/21 - Saira Park (Pages 39 - 110)

9

Updates from Board Members

10

A.O.B.

Contact: Melvyn Mallam-Churchill, Tel: 0191 433 2149,
Email: melvynmallam-churchill@gateshead.gov.uk, Date: Thursday, 21 April 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2
GATESHEAD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL
GATESHEAD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING
Friday, 4 March 2022

PRESENT

Councillor Lynne Caffrey - Gateshead Council (Chair)
Councillor Leigh Kirton - Gateshead Council
Councillor Bernadette Oliphant - Gateshead Council
Councillor Martin Gannon - Gateshead Council
Councillor Michael McNestry - Gateshead Council
Councillor Jonathan Wallace - Gateshead Council
Mark Adams Newcastle - Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group
Dr Mark Dornan - Newcastle Gateshead CCG
Alice Wiseman - Gateshead Council

IN ATTENDANCE John Costello - Gateshead Council
Giovanni Spatuzzi - Connected Voice
Vicky Sibson - Gateshead Council
Nicola Allen - CBC Health
Louise Sweeney - Gateshead Council
Anneliese Hutchinson - Gateshead Council
Georgina Butler - Newcastle Gateshead CCG
Steph Downey - Gateshead Council
Melony Bramwell - Gateshead Council
Andrea Houlahan - Gateshead Council
Michael Brown - Healthwatch
Lynn Wilson - Gateshead Council/CCG
HW312

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Gary Haley, Caroline O’Neill, Steve
Thomas and James Duncan.

HW313

MINUTES
RESOLVED:
(i)
The minutes of the last meeting held on 28 January 2022 were agreed as
a correct record.
(ii)
The Board noted the matters arising as detailed in the Action List.

HW314

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
RESOLVED:
(i)
There were no matters arising.

HW315

ADULT SOCIAL CARE WHITE PAPER - STEPH DOWNEY
The Board received a report and presentation providing an update on the Adult

Page 3

Social Care (ASC) White Paper; from the report the Board were provided with a
summary of its objectives, key themes and information relating to the impact on
Gateshead.
From the presentation, the Board were advised that the four key themes as outlined
in the White Paper were:





Providing the right care in the right place at the right time
Empowering those who draw on care, unpaid carers and families
A strategy for the social care workforce
Supporting local authorities to deliver social care reform and the Government
vision

It was highlighted that Gateshead already has many of the key areas in
development; it was noted that work is also underway with the LGA, housing,
planning and commissioning colleagues with regards to the direction of housing
requirements including extra care, that there is investment in digital technology and
ASSET (an early signal driver approach to help identify those at risk of entering Care
Act arrangements) as well as work taking place on innovative workforce solutions.
The Board were also provided with a summary of timescales, finances and potential
financial pressures as the aims of the White Paper are implemented. It was reported
that social care providers are reporting that they have to increase wages by more
than 6.6% due to wage increases in other competing parts of the economy. The
Board acknowledged that ‘workforce’ is one of the biggest issues facing adult social
care and is likely to lead to cost pressures.
Concern was noted from the Board that the estimate for inflation would likely fall
short; a comment was also made stating that the process in which providers must
bid for funding to provide services is counterproductive.
The Board noted that investment in prevention was important in reducing the burden
on adult social care services; the Board also discussed the Falls Programme and its
benefits. It was suggested that partners should dig deep to resource prevention and
early intervention; a comment was also made noting that the Board would add its
voice to lobby for more funding and autonomy to deliver services at a place based
level.
The Board also acknowledged the importance of digital technology in providing
services; a comment was also made stating that whilst the use of technology can
provide some efficiencies, it is not a substitute for face-to-face care.
RESOLVED:
(i)
The Board noted the opportunities and issues raised within the report and
presentation.
(ii)
The Board agreed to use their collective lobbying power to make the case
for a fair deal for Adult Social Care in Gateshead.

Page 4

HW316

ADULT SOCIAL CARE ACT TEAM - MELONY BRAMWELL
The Board received a presentation providing an update on the impact on poverty in
adults with a focus on the Adult Service Support and Engagement Team (ASSET).
From the presentation, the Board noted that Gateshead has seen an increase in its
aging population and a reduction in those aged between 0-44. It was also
th
highlighted that Gateshead is ranked 47 out of 317 local authorities in terms of
deprivation. The Board were reminded that the information presented would now be
out of date as the pandemic has had a significant impact in several areas affecting
health and wellbeing in adults across the board.
The Board were advised that services are already seeing an increase in demand
across a number of areas and that this demand is expected to grow alongside the
emergence of hidden demands from those not currently engaging.
It was reported that austerity and welfare reform had seen budget cuts in local
authorities with adult social care services particularly affected; it was also noted that
staff shortages had been felt across the entire social care workforce. The Board
were provided with an overview of ASSET; it was noted that their role is to provide
early signal driven intervention for residents who are experiencing (or are predicted
to experience) chaotic lifestyles, multiple exclusions and negative social outcomes.
From the presentation, the Board were also advised of the work done with partners
in addition to two case studies highlighting the importance of the work being done.
RESOLVED:
(i)
The Board noted the contents of the presentation.

HW317

STRUCTURING THE BOARD'S AGENDA ON THE STRATEGIC PRIORITIES OF
OUR HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY (INCLUDING ADDRESSING
POVERTY)
The Board were provided with an overview of the strategic priorities of the Health
and Wellbeing Strategy (including addressing poverty), these were:
-

Give every child the best start in life
Enable all children, young people, and adults to maximise their capabilities
and have control over their lives
Create fair employment and good work for all
Ensure a healthy standard of living for all
Create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities
Strengthen the role and impact of ill health prevention

The Board received a presentation summarising the aims and objectives of
Gateshead’s THRIVE agenda in addition to lessons learned from the Covid-19
pandemic. The Board also discussed the deepening of inequalities seen throughout
Gateshead in addition to factors affecting the wider determinants of health.
Following the discussions, the Board noted the reasoning for diversifying the

Page 5

representation on the Board in order to deliver its priorities; this included
representation from Northumbria Police and looking at ways that the voice of
community and voluntary sector providers can best be heard by the Board.
It was suggested that a task and finish group be established to develop an
implementation plan for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy; it was agreed that a
further update on the matters discussed and presented would be brought to a future
meeting.
RESOLVED:
(i)
The Board noted the update provided in the presentation.
(ii)
The Board agreed to put in place a task and finish group to develop an
implementation plan for the Health & Wellbeing Strategy in order to take
forward the Board’s strategic priorities.
HW318

COVID-19 RESPONSE & VACCINE UPDATE - ALICE WISEMAN/LYNN WILSON
The Board received an update on the Covid-19 response and vaccine uptake in
Gateshead.
It was reported that there were currently 14 individuals in hospital with Covid-19; the
Board were also advised that as restrictions have eased there is evidence that there
are fewer people testing and recording test results both locally and nationally. The
Board also noted concern at the Governments plans to begin charging for Covid-19
tests; it was felt that this would further discourage people to take and report test
results.
The Board were provided with a summary of vaccine uptakes across Gateshead; it
was noted that the update for first vaccines varied across wards. It was highlighted
that Nicola Allen; Chief Executive of CBC Health would be arranging for a vaccine
bus to travel to communities where uptake is lowest.
The Board discussed the rollout of further booster vaccinations; it was advised that
the landscape with regard to booster vaccines is changing. The Board were further
advised that they would be updated as this programme evolves.
RESOLVED:
(i)
The Board noted the update.

HW319

GATESHEAD CARES SYSTEM BOARD UPDATE - MARK DORNAN/ALL
The Board received a presentation providing an update from the Gateshead Cares
System Board.
From the update, the Board noted that following its last meeting, the System Board
considered the eight lessons set out in the DPH annual report, including the scope to
use CCG health inequalities funding to respond to the lessons learned. It was also
reported that the Systems Board had considered an update on the Gateshead
Outcomes Framework Axym and on the capacity needed to progress digital
inclusion work across the system.

Page 6

The Board were also provided with an overview of proposals to take forward work on
multiple and complex needs, this included the establishment of a Programme Board
to oversee the work, leadership and engagement arrangements to progress
‘People@theHeart’.
From the presentation, information was provided on work taking place relating to the
transformation of home care and planning for a Development Session for the
System Board. The Board were also advised that work is taking place relating to an
operating model for the NENC Integration Care Board.
RESOLVED:
(i)
The Board noted the update.
HW320

UPDATES FROM BOARD MEMBERS
The Board were advised that across the Council and the CCG that investment is
being pooled across the children’s agenda, this included care leavers and training.
The Board were also advised that the Council will be taking forward a trainee social
worker programme.
RESOLVED:
(i)
The Board noted the updates.

HW321

A.O.B.
RESOLVED:
(i)
There was no other business.

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 2.2
GATESHEAD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
ACTION LIST

AGENDA ITEM

ACTION

BY WHOM

COMPLETE
or STATUS

Matters Arising from HWB Informal meeting on 4th March 2022
Structuring the
Board's agenda on
the Strategic
Priorities of our
Health & Wellbeing
Strategy

To put in place a task
and finish group to
develop an
implementation plan
for the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy

A Wiseman

Arrangements for
a task and finish
group are being
progressed

Matters Arising from HWB meeting on 22nd October 2021
Safeguarding
Adults Board
Annual Report and
Strategic Plan

Board Councillors to
receive refresher
safeguarding training

A Houlahan / C
Hulme

Safeguarding
training offered to
all Councillors on
9th February via a
Members
Seminar.
Arrangements
are also being
made to deliver
refresher training
on corporate
parenting

Matters Arising from HWB meeting on 10th September 2021
Review of the Role
and Membership of
the Health &
Wellbeing Board:
Part 2 Discussion

The Chair and Alice
Chair, A Wiseman,
Wiseman to meet
L Goodwin, L
with Lisa Goodwin to Wilson, J Costello
progress options for a
Reference Group
arrangement

Page 9

Connected Voice
facilitated /
chaired a meeting
with VCS
organisations on
15th March.
Outcomes from
the meeting are
being written up

1

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
GATESHEAD HEALTH AND
WELLBEING BOARD
29 April 2022
TITLE OF REPORT: Climate Emergency Strategy

Purpose of the Report
1. To seek endorsement from the Health and Wellbeing Board of the Climate
Emergency Strategy and ensure partners work together to tackle the climate
emergency.
How does the report support Gateshead’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy?
2. Links between health and wellbeing and climate are plentiful. The Council Climate
Action Plan and the draft Climate Change Strategy for the Borough relate to health
under each theme, some examples are set out below;
-Transport – active travel promotes health and wellbeing
-Energy – including decreasing fuel poverty and the provision of warm homes
-Housing – provision of low carbon homes
-Community – through the benefits of social connection and the creation of
community allotments or orchards providing healthy food
-Nature and the environment – through active lifestyles and the proven link
between access to open spaces and mental health
-Economy and consumption – through provision of local jobs
-Food – through the increased consumption of plant based foods and access to
local sourced food.
-Resilience to climate – protection from flood and heat events
The Climate team and public health meet regularly to discuss these connections
and ensure that co-benefits are exploited to result in the best outcomes for
Gateshead and its residents.
Health and wellbeing is also referenced in the Council Environmental Policy
adopted in 2021.
Background
3. The Council declared a Climate Emergency in 2019. As a result, the Council
committed to become carbon neutral by 2030 and to assist the borough in meeting
the same targets. The Climate Action Plan setting out how the Council will work
towards net zero was published in 2021 and a Council wide Environmental Policy
was adopted in 2021.
4.

The Council commissioned an independent environmental audit of the Council
operations in 2020 using the Investors in the Environment methodology, where it
received a silver accreditation. The audit helped inform the Climate action Plan and
focused the Council’s priority actions. The Council received the first annual review
of the Environment Audit in 2021. The Council is continuing to achieve Silver level
accreditation and has improved its rating from 70% to 75% since the first audit in
2020 despite resources being diverted during Covid-19 in many services. The
second review will commence in the coming months. However the Council’s

Page 11

1

footprint forms a very small part of that of Gateshead and it is clear that all partners,
business, voluntary sector and community must play their part.
5.

The Council consulted on the Gateshead wide Climate Strategy from December
2021 to February 2022. The Strategy is set out in themes: transport; energy;
economy and consumption; woodland and nature; food; and resilience and
adaptation.

6.

As part of the preparation of this report, we asked partner members of the Health &
Wellbeing Board to provide a brief statement from their organisation regarding the
following questions; Have they declared a climate emergency? Do they have a
strategy or plan? What has been their best success? What has proved difficult?
What do they need some help with?

We had a response from the Gateshead Health NHS Trust Foundation, who set out
some of the vast successes achieved by the Trust to date, but also set out some of the
ways that others can assist in the delivery of their climate objectives;
-Improve public transport and cycle routes for staff, patients and visitors. Improving
safety and lighting as well.
-Increase electric charging points available across the region.
-Financial resources/funds.
-Help engaging and educating the public and our staff on climate change, its impact and
how they can take action. This includes low carbon diets and sustainable travel which
can be linked to health prevention work too and improving public health.
-More collaborative working of Local Authorities with the ICS and Trusts to deliver
sustainable schemes that provide innovation and change.
7. Many of these are recurring actions that are required through Gateshead, in
particular the need for improved EV infrastructure and public transport.
8. One of the objectives of the draft Climate Emergency Strategy is identifying gaps
and enabling action across organisations and communities to deliver common
goals and climate objectives
9. It is worth noting that the NHS Supply Chain has committed to ensuring that their
supply chain aligns with the NHS net zero strategy and that by April 2022 all
Trusts must adopt a procurement social value model with a minimum of 10%
weighting. Gateshead Council have also recently adopted a Social Value Toolkit
with a 10% rating, in addition to establishing our supply chains climate and
carbon emissions through a questionnaire requested in each tender. The Council
has also started to monitor its scope 3 emissions, including supply chain
emissions.
Proposal
10. The draft Climate Emergency Strategy sets out a vision for Gateshead;

By 2030 we will have achieved our commitment to making Gateshead carbon
neutral
Organisations will be working together in a combined effort to reduce carbon
emissions. Opportunities in the ‘green economy’ will be realised, with businesses

Page 12

2

benefitting from sectors that have seen substantial growth as our economy moves
away from its reliance on fossil fuels.
Our communities will have been supported through this change: healthier and
more active lifestyles, improved access to nature, cleaner air, warmer homes with
lower energy bills, better access to local services, all of which have reduced
inequalities across the borough.
11. The Strategy then sets out the objectives under each of the themes transport;
energy; economy and consumption; woodland and nature; food; and resilience
and adaptation and provides examples of best practice climate action from the
Council, our partners and communities.
12. The Strategy sets out the proposed Ward level action plans, where we will
develop locally specific action plans tailored to the needs and priorities of each
ward. These action plans will be delivered by a combination of the Council,
businesses, communities and other organisations.
13. The Climate Strategy also seeks to fully utilise natural co-benefits to climate
action, including improved health and wellbeing, improved air quality, improved
environments/places, habitat creation, and a reduction in inequality.
14. It is proposed that the Health and Wellbeing board endorse the draft Climate
Emergency Strategy and commit to help achieve the vision and objectives within
in, where appropriate along with their own climate targets.
Recommendations
15. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to endorse the Climate Emergency
Strategy
16. The Health and Wellbeing board commit to delivering the objectives within the
strategy, in partnership with the Council and others, where appropriate

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Contact: Lucy Greenfield LucyGreenfield@Gateshead.Gov.UK

Page 13

3

This page is intentionally left blank

Climate Strategy
Gateshead 2021/22
Draft for consultation

Page 15

Contents
3

Foreword by the Leader of the Council

4

The need for change

5

The impact on Gateshead

7

Consultation

8

Our vision

10 Aims of the community, partners and the council
14 Strategy for Gateshead
23 Ward Action Plans
24 Get involved

2

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 16

Foreword

by the Leader of the Council
Gateshead Council has made significant progress in recent years in
reducing the carbon emissions from its own activities. Investment in new
technologies has helped us reduce reliance on fossil fuels for providing
heat and power to our buildings, and improving the efficiency of street
lighting and the vehicles we use has also had a significant impact. Since
2010 we have reduced the carbon emissions associated with the Council’s
activities by 55%. In February 2021 we published a Climate Emergency
Action Plan that will deliver on the council’s commitment to make its own
activities carbon neutral by 2030.
However, the Council’s own activities account for only around 2.5%
of Gateshead’s total emissions. Clearly, achieving a significant reduction in total emissions from
Gateshead requires action from everybody – from our communities, from Gateshead businesses
and from our partners. This Strategy aims to deliver on our commitment of making the whole of
Gateshead carbon neutral by 2030. It sets out how communities, businesses and other agencies
can reduce their carbon footprint, and the steps that the Council can take in enabling this. It is vital
that we act collectively to deliver change, it is everyone’s responsibility to take the action necessary
to reduce the negative impact we have on our planet. From residents to businesses, public
services to charities to government. Climate Change is happening. Countries and businesses are
responding, and Gateshead needs to be part of that movement if it is to succeed in grasping the
many opportunities arising from a green economy and thriving neighbourhoods.
The activities that help reduce carbon emissions also help address wider issues facing our
communities, such as challenges to health and wellbeing, the need to improve air quality in
some locations, reducing fuel poverty, ensuring access to good quality and affordable food, and
supporting Gateshead’s economic recovery from the devastating effects of Covid-19.
We look forward to hearing from Gateshead residents on how they will play their part in the vital
work to deliver a zero carbon future.

Cllr Martin Gannon
Leader, Gateshead Council

Page 17

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

3

The need for change
Earth’s climate has changed throughout history but the current warming trend is of
particular significance because the evidence shows it is the result of human activity since the
mid-20th century and the speed of change is unprecedented over thousands of years.

The evidence for rapid climate change is compelling:
• The planet’s average surface temperature has risen about
1.18 degrees celsius since the late 19th century, a change
driven largely by increased carbon dioxide emissions
into the atmosphere and other human activity.
• Most of the warming occurred in the past 40 years, with
the seven most recent years being the warmest. The
years 2016 and 2020 are tied for the warmest year on
record.
• The Greenland and Antarctic ice sheets have shrunk. Data from NASA shows Greenland
lost an average of 279 billion tons of ice per year between 1993 and 2019, while
Antarctica lost about 148 billion tons of ice per year.
• Global sea level rose about 20 centimetres in the last century. The rate in the last two
decades is nearly double that of the last century and accelerating year by year.

The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on climate change. It was adopted
by 196 countries at COP 21 in Paris, on 12 December 2015 and entered into force on 4
November 2016. COP26 is being held this year with a goal to limit global warming to well below
2, preferably to 1.5 degrees celsius, compared to pre-industrial levels.
To achieve this long-term temperature goal, countries need to start reducing greenhouse gas
emissions as soon as possible to achieve a climate neutral world by mid-century.
The COP26 summit will bring countries together to accelerate action towards the goals of the Paris
Agreement and the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change. Climate change is happening
and it is everyone’s responsibility to take action.
ie s and
C o un t r
ing ,
e sp o n d
r
e
r
a
s
se
ds t o
busine s
e ad ne e
h
s
e
t
a
e n t.
and G
movem
t
a
h
t
f
o
shop
b e p a rt
d work
a
e
h
s
e
Gat
2019

4

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Be part of the
solution...

small
No-one too
e
k
to ma a
dif fe re nce

Page 18

The impact on Gateshead
UK winters are projected to become warmer and wetter on average, although cold and/
or dry winters will still occur sometimes. Summers are projected to become hotter and are
more likely to be drier, although wetter summers are also possible. By 2050, heatwaves like
that seen in 2019 are expected to happen every other year.
By 2070 we project:
• Winter will be between 1 and 4.5°C warmer and up to 30% wetter
• Summer will be between 1 and 6°C warmer and up to 60% drier
Heavy rainfall is also more likely.
Since 1998, the UK has seen seven of
the ten wettest years on record. Winter
storms like we saw in 2015 are at least
40% more likely because of climate change.
Climate Change is already impacting on Gateshead with more
regular flooding incidents and poor air quality.
If the predicted temperature rise occurs, the frequency, pattern and severity of flooding are all
expected to increase and become more damaging. The risk of flooding in the borough will
increase given rising sea levels, an increase in extreme rainfall and storm surge events and higher
ground water levels.
In November 2018 Defra released a new set of UK Climate Projections (UKCP18): for the North
East, sea levels are expected to increase by up to 50cm under the low emissions scenario and up
to 90cm under the high emissions scenario by 2100.
Whilst it is not possible to predict or prevent all flooding, the Council’s
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment provides a range of flood risk data
(river, tidal, surface water, groundwater, mine water, sewer, historic
events) which can help to identify parts of the borough which may
be vulnerable to flooding in the future and where steps can be taken
to reduce the risk and the impact of flooding. The risk of flooding
from the River Tyne, River Derwent and River Team is greatest in parts
of Dunston, Teams, Team Valley Trading Estate, Lamesley, Blackhall
Mill, Lintzford, Derwenthaugh, Blaydon and Swalwell. Surface water
flooding also affects hilly areas of the borough such as Kibblesworth,
Chopwell, Rowlands Gill, Leam Lane, Sunniside, Clara Vale, the upper
Team Valley, High Fell, Felling and Heworth.
Climate change will impact on our ability to develop areas for jobs and homes due to potential
flooding.

Page 19

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

5

Thunder Thursday
On Thursday 28th June 2012, 50mm of rain fell across the North East in just two
hours, the amount we would normally see for the whole month of June. In addition,
40mm fell in ninety minutes on Sunday 5th August 2012.
As a result of these two storms alone, the following happened:

- Our flood risk management team investigated over 300 reports of flooding,
drainage and surface water problems.
- Detailed investigations were completed in 10 areas where 10 or more properties
were flooded.
- More than 250 properties had to be vacated through flooding and storm damage.
- Over 80 locations on Gateshead’s roads were closed due to surface water
flooding.
- 75 locations were added to the council’s flood register
- Over 50 flood risk management or drainage improvement schemes were
completed following the incidents
- While each flooding location was different, the level of rainfall was clearly the
cause of the flooding.

The summer floods in 2012 demonstrated
the risks from overland surface water to both rural
and urban communities where existing drainage
systems could not cope. Flooding can have a
devastating impact: damage to property and critical
infrastructure; costs to the economy; disruption to
businesses, the transport network and community
life; the health and wellbeing of residents.

6

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 20

Consultation
In February 2020 the Council hosted a stakeholder workshop
at BALTIC, with the aim of beginning a dialogue with our
communities, and creating networks between individuals,
groups and organisations.
A residents’ survey was also carried out between January and May
2020, to gain a better understanding of our communities’ attitudes
towards the climate emergency, and what action they would be willing
to take.

86%

of respo
concernendents were
d
impact o about the
f clim
change ate

The survey received a strong response, with 942 respondents.
86% were concerned about the impact of climate change, while a large
majority (81%) supported the Council taking action on climate change.
When asked who should do more to tackle climate change,
the majority (90%) of respondents identified large businesses,
followed by national government (87%), and Gateshead
Council (82%).
On actions to reduce their own carbon footprint, people
indicated they would be willing to reduce the amount of
energy they used, would plant or retain trees or shrubs, or
would switch to ‘green’ energy tariffs. However, respondents
were more resistant to the suggestion of avoiding air travel,
with 35% unwilling to do this.

We are seeking views and partnership
working on this Climate Emergency Strategy.
• Consultation plan
• Partnership engagement 2021
• Public engagement 2021
• Draft Strategy with partnership agreement
finalised Spring 2022

Get involved – share your ideas via
our interactive consultation:
Climate change in Gateshead

Page 21

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

7

Our vision:
By 2030 we will have achieved our commitment
to making Gateshead carbon neutral
Organisations will be working together in a combined effort to reduce
carbon emissions. Opportunities in the ‘green economy’ will be realised,
with businesses benefitting from sectors that have seen substantial
growth as our economy moves away from its reliance on fossil fuels.
Our communities will have been supported through this change: healthier and more
active lifestyles, improved access to nature, cleaner air, warmer homes with lower energy
bills, better access to local services, and new job opportunities all of which have reduced
inequalities across the borough.

Commitments
In response to the climate emergency declared in 2019, we are committed to:
• Making the council’s activities carbon neutral by 2030.
• Achieving 100% clean energy across the council’s full range of functions by
2030.
• Ensuring that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning
decisions are in line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030.
• Ensuring that political and chief officers embed this work in all areas and
take responsibility for reducing, as rapidly as possible, the carbon emissions
resulting from the council’s activities, ensuring that any recommendations are
fully costed.
• Supporting and working with all other relevant agencies towards making the
entire area carbon neutral within the same timescale.
• Working with, influencing and inspiring partners across the borough to help
deliver this goal through all relevant strategies, plans and shared resources by
developing a series of meetings, events and partner workshops.
• The council and its partners taking steps to proactively include young people in
the process, ensuring that they have a voice in shaping the future.
• Calling on the UK Government to provide the powers, resources and help with
funding to make this possible, and asking local MPs to do likewise.

8

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 22

Gateshead Council has made significant progress in recent years in reducing the carbon emissions
associated with our own activities. Investment in new technologies has helped us reduce reliance
on fossil fuels for providing heat and power to our buildings. Improving the efficiency of street
lighting and the vehicles we use has also had a significant impact.
Since 2010 we have reduced the carbon emissions associated with the council’s activities by 55%.
In February 2021 we published a Climate Emergency Action Plan that will deliver on the council’s
commitment to make its own activities carbon neutral by 2030.
However, the council’s own activities account for only around 2.5% of Gateshead’s total emissions.
Clearly, achieving a significant reduction in total emissions from Gateshead requires action within
our communities, from Gateshead businesses and from our partners. This strategy aims to deliver
on our commitment of making the whole of Gateshead carbon neutral by 2030. It sets out how
communities, businesses and other agencies can reduce their carbon footprint, and the steps that
the council can take in facilitating this.

Our Current Position
Gateshead as a borough produces around 5.3 tonnes of CO2 (tCO2) per person per
year, compared to the national average of 5.4 tCO2 per head. (source – BEIS Local
Authority Greenhouse Gas Emission datasets, to 2019).This has reduced by 36% since
records began in 2005.
Emissions are generated roughly as 30% from business + public sector, 30% from
people’s homes and 40% from transport.
2019 Local Authority Carbon Dioxide Emissions (publishing.service.gov.uk)
UK local authority carbon dioxide emissions estimates 2019 (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Page 23

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

9

Aims of the community,
partners and the council
Build on commitments made by businesses, residents and other
stakeholders at the 2020 Climate Emergency workshop.

Transport – our vision
l

l

Walking and cycling will become the
natural choices for shorter journeys. We
will make improvements to infrastructure
to help people make these choices.
Public transport will become a
more attractive choice by making
improvements to the network and
working with transport providers.

services and facilities more accessible
within communities, minimising the need
to travel, and the amount of distance
travelled.
l

l
l

l

10

We’ll support the migration to zero
emission vehicles through the provision
of electric charging infrastructure for
vehicles in appropriate locations and will
work with public transport operators to
support them in making all buses zero
emission.
We’ll work together to address how
services and goods can be delivered
with zero carbon impact. We’ll make

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

l

Awareness amongst the community of
greener, healthier transport will grow and
its use will grow.
We’ll work together to address how
services and goods can be delivered with
zero carbon impact
The North East Transport Plan puts
climate change at its heart. The Council
will implement this objective in its
programme of sustainable transport
schemes and work with businesses
including public transport operators to
make sustainable travel more affordable
and accessible.

Page 24

Energy
l

Continue to prioritise reduction in energy
use –
• for homes, with energy efficiency grant
support
• for businesses, with services to
support resource efficiency

• support the growth of clean, green
hydrogen, through partners and
projects like InTEGRel and HyDeploy2,
as an alternative heating fuel
l

• for council buildings, through investto-save energy saving measures
l

To deliver our Zero Carbon Heat Strategy,
which will –
• continue to invest in heat networks for
council homes and buildings, and their
surrounding communities

l

Embrace national policies and
infrastructure that aim to decarbonise
power supplies by 80% at 2030, and
totally by 2040
For Gateshead to lead by example in the
North East’s low carbon heat cluster, for
clean heat provision and research

• support installation of heat pumps
where viable

Economy and consumption
l

l

l
l

For sustainable businesses to flourish in
Gateshead

l

For consumerism to be mindful of carbon
implications with a shift towards a greener
economy
To reduce waste
For the re-use and re-purpose of materials
and consumables to become common
place (buy less, re-use, swap, buy second
hand, buy local, buy ethical)

To manage all waste
appropriately within
the waste hierarchy
(reduce, re-use,
recycle) including
recycling and energy
from waste

To work towards a
doughnut economy
https://www.kateraworth.com/doughnut/
l

Woodland and Nature
l

l

l

Woodland and habitat creation to be
maximised and protected

nature using sustainable
methods of transport

To leave the environment in a better state
than we found it
For our communities to be able to access
and enjoy the countryside and urban

l

Plant 100,000 trees by
2030 and work with partners
to increase woodland
cover from 15% to 17%
by 2050

Page 25

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

11

Food
l

Low carbon, sustainable food to be available to all

l

Reduction in food waste

l

Reduction in food miles

l

Encouragement of a reduced meat diet

Building flood resilience
To adapt to climate change and build flood resilience:
l

l

l

l

l

l

12

Update Gateshead’s Local Flood Risk
Management Strategy to a more strategic
and comprehensive plan that drives longterm local action.
Support the Lead Local Flood Authority
(LLFA) to deliver a six year programme
of local flood mitigation schemes,
working with key stakeholders such as the
Environment Agency and Northumbrian
Water, to manage flooding in communities
that have been affected by flooding
incidents or are at high risk of flooding.
Support the Environment Agency with the
delivery of Team Valley Flood Alleviation
Scheme to reduce flood risk on Team
Valley Trading Estate including upstream
storage, natural flood management and a
flood warning system.
Ensure today’s growth and infrastructure
is resilient to tomorrow’s climate work
through spatial planning and advice for LLFA.
Put in place sustainable drainage systems
(SuDS) and flood mitigation measures
within major new developments such as
Metrogreen and Gateshead Quays.

l

l

l

l

l

l

Work with a
range of partners
through the Tyne,
Team, Tyne Estuary and
Don river catchment partnerships and
the Northumbrian Integrated Drainage
Partnership.
Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS)
incorporated within property, highways
and green infrastructure e.g. water butts,
rain water gardens, permeable paving,
basins, swales and ponds.
Create climate resilient places through
integrated catchment management:
Ensure landowners maintain their flood
management assets (e.g. watercourses,
culverts, flood defences, drains, SuDS),
including Council assets.
Prepare for flooding events - appropriate
warnings, alerts, evacuation plans and
information from multi-agency partners.
Building community engagement and
preparation of local flood response plans:
Community Emergency Guidance.

Make properties in high risk areas
more flood resilient by encouraging
communities and businesses to
incorporate property protection measures
e.g. flood gates, and to prepare flood
response plans.

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 26

Adaptation to Climate Change
l
l

Ensure our communities are safe from the impacts of climate change
For our businesses to be resilient to the impacts of climate change

Our strategic approach, ‘Making Gateshead a
place where everyone thrives’, commits us to
these pledges
• Support our communities to support
themselves and each other
• Invest in our economy to provide sustainable
opportunities for employment, innovation
and growth across the borough

Strategy
Wellbeing
Health and
Gateshead

homes,
Good jobnsd, friends
health a
send
people and
“Why treat
itions
to the cond
them back
k?”
sic
m
the
that made

Our vision for health and wellbeing in Gateshead is
“Good jobs, homes, health and friends”. Within the
Health and Wellbeing Strategy our objective is to
create and develop healthy and sustainable places and
communities.
This Climate Change Strategy will help us to deliver
against both the Health and Wellbeing strategy and
the Thrive pledges and make a real difference to the
lives of people in Gateshead.

Page 27

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

13

Strategy for Gateshead
This strategy starts to provide a framework for grass roots action to tackle climate change at the
local level, with local actions, collaboration and behaviour change. This draft strategy is intended
to be a ‘starter for ten’ allowing for a collaborative approach to set goals and actions that the whole
community in Gateshead can buy into and implement.
The following sections provide case studies of actions that contribute to our environmental goals
from within the Council and our partners. We want this draft strategy to l spark the conversation to
identify all the amazing initiatives that are happening in Gateshead relating to climate change and
to provide ideas for new actions to enable us to work towards net zero together.
We know we haven’t captured everything going on in Gateshead and we want you to tell us
what you are doing and how we can help. We will include your feedback to update our final
strategy.

Transport
Council
40% of Gateshead’s carbon emissions come from transport.
We need to reduce traffic on our roads and make it easy for more
sustainable forms of transport to flourish. To do this we need
to make sure the transport we use is reliable and cheap. We
will encourage walking, cycling and public transport. We will
encourage the provision of electric vehicle charging in our local
centres and at places of work. We will work with business to
promote green travel plans and encourage ‘green fleet’ uptake.

40%

of Gates
he
emissions ad’s carbon
come
transport from
.

Reduced traffic in our town centres during the Covid-19 lockdown period has resulted in improved
air quality and reduced carbon emissions associated with vehicle use. At the same time cycling
numbers have increased significantly. We want to lock in this benefit. However traffic levels are
now increasing and transport remains an area of concern over the pace of the reduction in carbon
emissions. As well as improving alternatives to the car it is likely that further measures actively to
restrain unnecessary car travel will be needed if targets are to be met.
The Council has continued to invest available funding in improving infrastructure for pedestrians
and cyclists. It has secured funding from various sources, including the Government’s emergency
active travel fund to improve cycling and walking infrastructure and support recovery from
Covid-19. Gateshead has also adopted the Love to Ride app, which provides a community for
cyclists across the UK, and awards points and prizes for achievements. In addition, a programme of
Dr Bike sessions have taken place at locations across the borough.

14

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 28

Old Sunderland Road
Old Sunderland Road is one of the main walking and
cycling routes into Gateshead town centre from the south
east. The previous access via a subway was removed, after
securing a £2.34 million Government grant. The subway
has now been replaced by a new ‘at grade’ crossing,
which also incorporates a bus link.

New cros
sing providing
ab

et
walking,
cycling a ter
nd
route int
o Gatesh bus
ead
town cen
tre

Ongoing surveys found that, even during Covid restrictions, over 1100 people and 120
cyclists were using this crossing daily. The new crossing provides an important connection in
the redevelopment of the ‘Exemplar Neighbourhood’ area to the south of Gateshead town
centre, which will provide over 1,000 new homes when complete. It will provide a better
walking, cycling and bus route into Gateshead town centre and towards Newcastle city
centre.

Community
Gateshead’s bike donation scheme, implemented during
lockdown, has been highly successful this year, redistributing
more than 60 unwanted bikes to new homes with our most
vulnerable residents.
The Council continues to invest in measures to encourage
walking and cycling in and around local communities. As
well as improved walking and cycling routes and crossings
this includes measures such as 20mph zones in residential
areas and close to schools.

60
unwante
d bikes
redis
tributed
to new
homes.

Be Cool!

Walking
B
guidelineus
s

Be Cool!

Park away from
our school

For more information visit www.gateshead.gov.uk/becool

Page 29

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

15

Energy
Gateshead Council is a leading UK local authority in both energy efficiency, and heat networks. The
Council recently secured a Heat Networks Investment Project grant of almost £6m to enable the
Gateshead Energy Company to install 5.5km of new heating pipes to the east of the town centre,
potentially supplying heat to around 1,250 new houses and other buildings. The funding will also
help to install a 6MW water source heat pump, which will extract heat from the water in underground
mine workings 150 metres beneath Gateshead town centre. This could form the largest mine water
heating scheme in the world. In time, the project will add a mine water cooling network, so that new
development can access zero carbon heat, power and cooling, to be truly zero carbon on all fronts.
On renewable power, in October 2020 Cabinet approved work to
commence on two urban solar energy parks, that will be connected to the
town centre energy network. These will provide 4MW of clean power to over
12 Council buildings on the network, as well as renewable power to run the
minewater heat pump during the summer months. This is in addition to 2MW
of solar installation across our schools and Council buildings already.

4MW

of clean
pow
12 Counc er to over
il buildin
gs.

What’s happening in your area to help the climate? What have we missed? Click here

Business
Gateshead is fortunate to have several leading UK businesses spearheading the new green
economy, including:
Lanchester Wines
One of the UK’s largest wine importers, bottlers, and distributers, Lanchester Wines, based in
both Gateshead and Durham, prides itself on being a zero carbon business already, which is
part of its USP. At their warehouse in Gateshead, they run two of the UKs largest mine water
heat pumps currently.
Henry Colbeck Ltd
Located on Team Valley Trading Estate, one of the UK’s leading suppliers to the fish and chip
sector, they have expanded their waste cooking oil collection service, to develop a waste oil
processing facility for onward supply of clean waste oils as a renewable blend into aviation fuels.
Hydrogen / Integrel
The Integrated Gas and Electricity Research Laboratory (InTEGRel)
is by Northern Gas Networks, as a partnership project between the
private sector, public sector and academia, based at a site in Low
Thornley. The site provides a rare opportunity for research into
decarbonising gas, water, electricity, and transport, and its potential
contribution to a low-carbon future was recognised by stakeholders
at our February 2020 workshop.

16

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 30

Researc
h
into dec
arbonisin
w
g gas,
ater, ele
ctric
transportity, and
.

Council

Exploring

Minewater - The Council is working with the Coal Authority to
develop and explore further mine energy projects. Detailed
feasibility studies are being carried out for other potential projects
furth
(Birtley, Kibblesworth, Chopwell) with funding being sought to
energy ep r mine
rojects.
further explore other heat network areas, in some of Gateshead’s
large council housing estates. The combination of three of the UK’s
largest mine water energy schemes within a 3 mile radius will further
provide the basis for a “Mine Heat Living Lab” in Gateshead that the Coal Authority will use to
model and verify the amount of mine heat available from mine water to support growth in this
sector elsewhere in the UK.
The Council is working with partners to secure funding for this important project, that could
facilitate growth across the low-carbon energy sector. The project also hosts the hydrogen supply
for the HyDeploy2 project, which from August 2021 commenced the first UK trial of blending 20%
hydrogen into a public gas network, which served 650 council homes in the village of Winlaton.
This will help revise national policy and regulation, to allow blended hydrogen to be deployed
across the UK.

Food
Council
Gateshead is beginning to work in partnership with interested parties to develop a sustainable
food network. This will build upon work already taking place to address food poverty and
health inequality, and ensure there is cheap, local and low carbon food available to all whilst also
addressing food waste.
Gateshead Community Food Network:
Working t
The Gateshead Community Food Network involves 45-50 local
ogether
t
o
r
e
d
uce foo
community organisations, charities, businesses and third sector
waste d
partners to explore and deliver ways to both reduce food waste and
make surplus food available to those households and families who
need it. The network, currently led and facilitated by the Council,
identifies opportunities across Gateshead where surplus food can be
shared with other organisations to feed people and not get sent to landfill.
An area of success for the network has been the development of an interactive food map
of Gateshead, which has a huge amount of data layered into it, including free school
meal eligibility, FareShare recipients, pay as you feel cafes, low cost food cafes, free food
cafes, foodbanks, food co-op’s, and the locations of surplus fresh food collections from
supermarkets and Greggs stores. It also highlights all of the community partners who offer
food to local people, including address details, a named contact and what and when is
available.

Page 31

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

17

Cook n Eat:
The Council, as part of its Holidays, Activities and Food (HAF)
programme has been providing a Cook n Eat offer, whereby
1,700 families eligible for free school meals receive a box of
fresh ingredients to cook a meal for 4 people over 5 days.

1,700

families
eli
school m gible for free
e
box of fr als receive a
e
to cook a sh ingredients
meal fo
over 5 d r 4 people
ays.

These boxes were delivered fresh to the doorstep by Council
fleet vehicles. Previously the delivery teams used postcode
data to plan routes which was time consuming and created a lot of replicated
routing. By using route planning software, made available by a local transport company, the
Council was able to reduce the amount of time spent on the road, thus reducing the amount
of fuel used in vehicles which contributes to a reduction in our emissions.
Primula/Kavli:
At the start of the Coronavirus pandemic the Council forged a partnership with Team Valley
based food manufacturer, Kavli. This relationship saw the Council take surplus food from Kavli
to include in their emergency food parcels, which were circulated to households experiencing
hardship or who were unable to leave home to shop due to covid related isolation. Kavli has
provided tens of thousands of products which would otherwise have been sent to landfill.

What’s happening in your area to help the climate? What have we missed? Click here

Business
Gateshead Council and its partners continue to work with local businesses who either manufacture
or supply food to ensure that their overstock is made available to local households using Community
Food Network partners. It also welcomes additional local businesses reaching out to the network
(via the Council) to support them with supplying surplus foods. Current partners include major
retailers such as Tesco, Marks & Spencer, Greggs and Sainsburys. We also have smaller family run
businesses such as Lintz Hall Farm, who have donated fresh farm eggs to the Council for onward
distribution to foodbanks, food co-op’s and community organisations, all supplying food locally to
families in hardship.
These types of partnerships are also of great benefit to those businesses working with us as their
produce is no longer wasted or sent to landfill, instead it reaches families and individuals for
consumption, often in cases where they could never afford the types of produce being offered,
particularly fresh produce such as eggs, fruit and vegetables.

Community
Allotments provide a great opportunity for you to grow your own produce and get some fresh
air and exercise at the same time. Over 50% of allotments are managed by allotments societies.
Two of the largest are Gateshead and District Allotment Association and the Whickham Allotment
Association. The Council is encouraging the formation of new allotment associations where there
are currently none. Groups wishing to establish an association receive a discount in their rent for
managing allotment applicants on behalf of the Council. The Council is happy to offer advice and
assistance to any group wishing to start an allotment association or run a community allotment and is
willing to provide assistance in setting up a community or allotment association.
18

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 32

Woodland and Nature
Council
We have committed to considerably increasing woodland cover within
Increase
the borough. Effectively maintaining existing woodland and creating new
woodland
woodland can offset some of the carbon dioxide which is contributing
cover
to 17% b
to climate change. Woodlands can also improve biodiversity, and help
y 2050
support the physical and mental health of our communities. Gateshead
is particularly well served in terms of existing woodland, and currently
supports in excess of 2,206ha of woodland cover, equating to 15% of the
total area of the borough. In line with land-use policy recommendations from the UK Climate
Change Committee, the Council is working to increase woodland cover to 17% by 2050 – adding
approximately 250 hectares (600 acres) of land. As recognised at our February 2020 Climate
Emergency workshop, stakeholders from across the borough support this initiative, and there
have been dedicated meetings and workshops on this issue with partner organisations. There is
ongoing work to identify potential planting sites, funding opportunities and to ensure sustainable
management of the Council’s existing woodlands.

Business
Defra, England Community Forests and local councils across the North
East area are creating a new Community Forest to bring people closer to
nature.

500 hect
a
of trees res
by
2025

The North East Community Forest will see six local authorities joining
forces with environmental organisations to plant trees across the region. The initiative
aims to plant up to 500 hectares of trees by 2025. The partnership will work with people in the
community, businesses, and landowners with the aim of bringing forests and woodlands to those
most in need across Newcastle, Gateshead, North and South Tyneside, Sunderland, and Durham.

Community
Our communities and residents can provide a
valuable contribution by nurturing their gardens,
and local open spaces with plants and trees.
Gardens and open spaces can play a valuable
role in carbon sequestration and water storage
and drainage and play a valuable part in our
climate change aims, as well as providing
opportunities to increase wellbeing.

Page 33

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

19

Economy, consumption and waste
Council
The Council is consulting on its economic strategy and has ensured its approach to Climate
Change is embedded within it. This will ensure we grow the green economy of the future to
ensure Gateshead remains competitive.
The borough has declared a climate emergency and set an ambitious
target to be Net Zero by 2030. Transitioning to a green economy
presents significant growth opportunities and challenges as the race
to decarbonise energy, transport, buildings and industries intensifies.
The workstream will look at what support does businesses need to
manage the impact of climate change and reduce carbon emissions
as the borough tackles its Net Zero mission.

Net Zero
by 2030

What’s happening in your area to help the climate? What have we missed? Click here
The strategy aims to:
• Bring about a fundamental shift in the design and structure of the economic system
• Ensure our policies and the way partners work together enables change
• Boost innovation across industry to respond to challenges and, in so doing, deliver good jobs
at scale and/or major reform
• Support a just transition to the future economy through large-scale training and development
opportunities and widening access to employment
• Target public and private capital to build and develop new infrastructure
• Build movements for change across industry and communities to better manage resources
sustainably
The Council is part of the South of Tyne and Wear Waste Management Partnership and is part of
a joint municipal waste management which sets out the aims of the partner authorities on waste.
The operation of collections and the disposal of the materials collected are set out and governed
by procurement rules and national legislation.
The Council works to the national waste hierarchy to reduce waste, reuse waste and recycle before waste is disposed of.
All households can now recycle a wide range of materials from home
including plastic bottles, paper, cardboard, glass, metal cans and also
garden waste. In addition, we collect bulky waste items and operate
free of charge Household Waste and Recycling centres for the public
to dispose of recycling and waste. The partnership sends its refuse
waste to an energy from waste (EfW) plant on Teesside which converts
the waste into electricity which then goes back into the national grid.
20

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 34

In addition to collections, the partnership endeavours to work on community initiatives to try
to reuse items considered to be waste. These initiatives currently include Waste Electronic and
Electrical Equipment (WEEE) and bikes.
Our waste strategy can be found here:
STWWPWasteManagementStrategy202125.pdf (sunderland.gov.uk)

Waste Electrical & Electronic Equipment & Batteries
The WEEE Repair and Reuse Project was externally
funded for one year by Defra and the staff are based at the
council’s Waste and Recycling Visitor Education Centre at
Campground.
The team also promote the use and sustainable
management of rechargeable batteries. Any point of sale
for batteries has a legal duty to collect used batteries for
separate recycling to support the end-of-life principle.
We also provide free of charge battery tubes to council
buildings, schools and community venues in order to
support this infrastructure and drive this material out of
household waste and recycling bins where batteries can
become unstable and result in fires.

Waste and Recycling Visitor Education Centre (W&RVEC)
The Centre is part of a suite of council facilities that includes an Energy from Waste Facility
(EfW) provided by South Tyne and Wear Waste Management Partnership, a partnership made
up of Gateshead, Sunderland and South Tyneside Councils whose aim is to drive material up
the waste hierarchy and away from landfill.
The resources are offered free of charge and are wide ranging. They include site visits and
outreach educational work, craft classes and online sessions which can be bespoke to
particular needs and requirements.

Page 35

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

21

Business
The Council will support business to transition to a just and
green economy by providing advice and support and ensuring
the skills necessary to compete. Changes to procurement
and carbon accounting are on the horizon and many local
businesses are doing a good job of transitioning. For example
InTEGRel is exploring the use of green hydrogen both for heat
and power for local homes and business are using minewater to
provide green energy.
The Council will be working with the top 100 businesses in
Gateshead over the coming months to harness their ideas and
to encourage more initiatives to drive down their carbon footprints.
We will work with businesses directly, and through business networks including Newcastle
Gateshead Initiative, the CBI and NECC to drive the net zero agenda forward.

Community
All parts of the community are starting to work together to make the
necessary changes. Actions taken by the community through car clubs,
clothes swaps, sustainable food and tree planting can have a massive
impact on the overall carbon footprint of Gateshead.

Working w
communi ith
ties

We know this strategy can only be successful if we can build a strong
partnership with all the local communities within Gateshead, where
everybody takes responsibility for reducing their carbon footprint.
Local councillors are leading efforts to take the climate change message into their local
communities, and enable community groups, schools, places of worship, pubs and cafes, small
businesses to all play a role in Gateshead’s drive towards achieving net zero by 2030.
This strategy is only the start of this journey, and we look forward to collaborating on making
the change our borough needs.

22

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

Page 36

Ward Action Plans
We want to work with our communities on detailed plans in their area to ensure we have a blueprint for
change. We have an interactive map that we would like people to populate during the consultation
to tell us what is happening now, what they would like to happen and give us an idea of what needs
to change to help. It could be a better cycle lane, tidying allotments, a car share scheme. We will aim
to have a series of ward plans championed by Ward Councillors to be populated in consultation with
communities, this will help give us all a blueprint for change.
https://www.gateshead.gov.uk/article/14125/Climate-change-in-Gateshead
Examples:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cycle lane provision/improvement
Tree planting and woodland
Energy provision
Home improvement schemes
Allotment improvements
Food share initiatives
Local business initiatives – eg Lanchester Wines
Recycling and upcycling shops, including charity shops
Walk to school initiatives and other active travel
initiatives (eg. bike maintenance workshops)

Adaptation to Climate Change
In addition to reducing our impact on climate
change, we need to adapt to the changes that
we are already facing and are going to face in the
future, from flooding events to wildfires.
Adaptation needs to take place to ensure that our
communities are kept safe and our economy is
resilient but also that our environment is protected,
including animals and plants.
Identifying adaptation needs in our localities is an
important first step to planning for adaptation in
Gateshead.

Page 37

Climate Strategy - Gateshead 2021/22

23

Get involved:
Website
Email
Twitter
LinkedIn ( search for Gateshead Council)

Page 38
3545-JH-Oct21

Page 39

Agenda Item 8

Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership
Annual Report 2020/21

Contents
FOREWORD ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2
Introduction .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3

2.

Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA) ............................................................................................................................................................. 3

3.

Independent scrutiny............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 5

4.

Challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic................................................................................................................................................................................. 6

5.

Gateshead Local Area Context ............................................................................................................................................................................................. 8

6.

Performance data - window on the system ......................................................................................................................................................................... 9

7.

Business Plan ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10

8.

What have we achieved and what impact have we seen? ................................................................................................................................................ 10

8.1

Strategic Priorities .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 11

Page 40

1.

Protecting Vulnerable Children and Young People ....................................................................................................................................................................... 11
Leadership...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 20
Learning and improvement ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 24
8.2

Thematic Priorities .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 32

Voice of the child ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 32
Mental health and emotional wellbeing ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 42
Child exploitation and children who go missing............................................................................................................................................................................ 48
9.

Summary of other thematic info ........................................................................................................................................................................................ 55

10.

Child deaths ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 65

11.

Training ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 66

12.

Gateshead Health and Wellbeing Strategy ........................................................................................................................................................................ 67

Appendix 1: Action Plan (2019 – 2021) ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 69

1

Foreword
Councillor Gary Haley
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People
Gateshead Council
The last two years have been unprecedented in how the global pandemic has impacted on all our lives. It has led to restrictions in
personal liberties, real challenges for how people socialise, how we work together using technologies few of us had heard of at the
end of 2019, and, not least, the impact all of this has had on the mental and physical health of many of the most vulnerable across
Gateshead.

Page 41

That said, I have to report that our partnership has risen to the challenges of Covid and everyone concerned has continued to do
what we all do so well, keeping children and young people safe wherever and whenever it was necessary.

The last year has also seen change at the top with, most recently, the retirement of Caroline O’Neill, our Director of Children’s Services. Caroline has been a
fantastic leader since 2017 and I have no doubt that our partnership is stronger and our young people are safer as a result of her tireless service. I’m sure we
would all want to wish her a healthy retirement.

We also said farewell to our previous Independent Chair, Sir Paul Ennals, who stood down from the role he held since 2016. Sir Paul also served our
partnership well, providing appropriate challenge to us all at a leadership as well as an operational level. I am grateful to him for his service and, on a personal
level, I can say I learned a lot from him.
So, I was honoured to have been asked to fulfil the role as Interim Chair, a role which turned out to be an exclusively virtual one, since we have been unable
to meet in person. As a consequence, and frustratingly, many of our partners have been visible to me only on a small screen - I look forward to meeting
everyone in person in the near future.
We now look forward to welcoming Heather Pearson as our new Independent Scrutineer, who will assume this role from April 2022. The chairing of the
Partnership meetings will form part of Heather’s role, and I have every confidence that the business of safeguarding in Gateshead will continue to improve
under her competent leadership.
Finally, in signing off my first, and probably only, Foreword for our annual report, I’d like to thank every member of the partnership for the support they have
given me as Lead Member and I look forward to our positive relationship continuing as we return to a more normal way of working.

2

1.

INTRODUCTION

This is the second annual report for the Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP). The three Safeguarding Partners 1 are required to publish an
Annual Report that sets out what they have done as a result of the safeguarding arrangements, including on child safeguarding practice reviews, and how
effective these arrangements have been in practice.
This should be published at least once in every 12 -month period, and include:
•
•
•
•

evidence of the impact of the work of the safeguarding partners and relevant agencies (including training) on outcomes for children and families
from early help to looked-after children and care leavers;
an analysis of any areas where there has been little or no evidence of progress on agreed priorities;
a record of decisions and actions taken by the partners in the report’s period (or planned to be taken) to implement the recommendations of any
local and national child safeguarding practice reviews, including any resulting improvements; and
ways in which the partners have sought and utilised feedback from children and families to inform their work and influence service provision.

Page 42

Last year’s report covered the period April 2019 to March 2020. This report covers a longer period from April 2020 to September 2021; next years report
will cover September to September (to bring it in line with the school year). This report for 2020/2021 will be published on the GSCP website –
www.gatesheadsafeguarding.ork.uk

2.

Multi Agency Safeguarding Arrangements (MASA)

Many local organisations and agencies have a duty under section 11 of the Children Act 2004 to ensure that they consider the need to safeguard and promote
the welfare of children when carrying out their functions. The responsibility for this join-up locally rests with the three safeguarding partners who have a
shared and equal duty to make arrangements to work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in a local area.
Schools, colleges and other education providers have a pivotal role to play in safeguarding children too, alongside the other relevant agencies listed in
regulations. Through safeguarding partnership arrangements, the safeguarding partners are required to ensure that they are fully engaged and involved.
Working Together 2018 promotes the shared and equal duty of safeguarding partners, an emphasis on the child’s experience and voice, and building a culture
of reflection and learning.
The Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP) was established in 2019, following the introduction of Children and Social Work Act 2017 and
statutory guidance Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018. The safeguarding arrangements and plan can be found here. The initial plan set out
1

The Three Safeguarding Partners for Gateshead are Gateshead Council, Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group and Northumbria Police

3

transitional arrangements and was updated in October 2020. During the course of 2020-2021, further work was completed on integrating functions across
the Northumbria footprint, and a wider structure review was undertaken in the spring of 2021.
The Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements for Children and Young People will be reviewed in September 2022. Any proposed amendment to the
arrangements will be in consultation with the wider partners.
GSCP Governance Structure

Page 43
4

3.

Independent scrutiny

The Act requires multi-agency arrangements are to be independently scrutinized, and the guidance 2 commits five paragraphs to explaining how scrutiny
could take place. It notes that:
•

•
•
•

Page 44

•

The role of independent scrutiny is to provide assurance in judging the effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements to safeguard and promote the
welfare of all children in a local area, including arrangements to identify and review serious child safeguarding cases. This independent scrutiny will be
part of a wider system which includes the independent inspectorate’s single assessment of the individual safeguarding partners and the Joint Targeted
Area Inspections.
Whilst the decision on how best to implement a robust system of independent scrutiny is to be made locally, safeguarding partners should ensure that
the scrutiny is objective, acts as a constructive critical friend and promotes reflection to drive continuous improvement.
The independent scrutineer should consider how effectively the arrangements are working for children and families as well as for practitioners, and
how well the safeguarding partners are providing strong leadership and agree with the safeguarding partners how this will be reported.
The published arrangements should set out the plans for independent scrutiny; how the arrangements will be reviewed; and how any
recommendations will be taken forward. This might include, for example, the process and timescales for ongoing review of the arrangements.
Safeguarding partners should also agree arrangements for independent scrutiny of the report they must publish at least once a year.

Current Independent Scrutiny Arrangements in Gateshead
The current Independent Scrutiny Arrangements in Gateshead are as follows:
• Lay members x2 who attend both GSCP and SAB meetings;
• The Section 11 audit forms part of the independent scrutiny arrangements and feeds into the reporting requirements as set out in Chapter 3 of Working
Together to Safeguard Children 2018 – this is carried out sub-regionally every two years – the same audit tool is used across six areas. Audit tool sent
out at the same time and responses collated (Gateshead lead on this) – this could be themed audits, to help inform agreed regional priority areas of
work.
• Use of local authority and CCG scrutiny and health and wellbeing committees.
• Peer challenge – including Regional ADCS and Tyne, Wear and Northumberland Safeguarding Partnership (TWNSP).
• Engagement of children and young people – via partnership agencies (including LA, CCG, Police).
• Independent inspectorate’s single assessment of the individual safeguarding partners and the Joint Targeted Area Inspections – Ofsted, Care Quality
Commission (CQC), Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS).
Based on all the learning nationally (WOOD REPORT – SECTOR EXPERT REVIEW OF NEW MASAs) and to develop our local arrangements, the GSCP considered
the options and agreed a blended approach to independent scrutiny, which includes retaining lay members and developing regional peer review/challenge

2

Working Together 2018: Chapter 3 Paragraphs 31 to 35

5

arrangements (linked to TWNSP and ADCS), as well as other scrutiny arrangements set out above. External inspections and reviews also offer scrutiny and
challenge.
An Independent Scrutineer has been appointed and will start in April 2022. The scrutineer will have a clear remit around what they scrutinise and why.
Key tasks of the scrutineer will be to:

1

Page 45

2
3
4

• Seek assurance in judging the effectiveness of the new multi-agency arrangements to safeguard children in.
• Assess whether the three safeguarding partners are fulfilling their statutory obligations (including mapping the Partnership work against the Six
Steps of Independent Scrutiny)
• Act as critical friend, in order to scrutinise performance management, audit and ensure quality assurance mechanisms are effective.
• Arbitrate when there is disagreement between the three statutory safeguarding partners.

The chairing of the Partnership meetings will form part of the Independent Scrutiny role and will fulfil the objective to act as a constructive critical friend,
promote challenge and reflection to drive continuous improvement (as set out in WT2018). It should also help in seeking assurance and assessing whether
the three safeguarding partners are fulfilling their statutory obligations.

4.

Challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic

In the crisis that hit our borough and our nation, our true nature was revealed, and the partnership within Gateshead proved itself to be extremely strong.
Covid-19 hit Gateshead hard. There are high levels of deprivation within the borough, and an age profile which has a higher than the average proportion of
elderly people, and these factors meant we suffered high levels of infection, and deaths. But it brought out the best in partners. Services adapted
extremely rapidly to the new challenges, communications were fast and efficient, and partnership working flourished.
Some of the new ways of working – using video systems for meetings, for example – have proved to be more efficient than the old ways. Schools remained
open to support vulnerable children and the children of key workers, and services continued to support families. Children’s Social Care and health services
maintained (safe) face to face contact throughout the Covid-19 pandemic with visiting and contact frequency based on assessed levels of need or risk.

6

Overview of Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership status during Covid-19 pandemic
The UK government imposed a lockdown on 23rd March 2020. It was agreed that the scheduled Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership meetings,
Executive Group and Sub-Groups should be stood down with immediate effect to enable our partners to respond to the unprecedented challenges brought
by Covid-19. In the meantime, critical elements of the partnership continued, which included the strategic partners holding four-weekly meetings
(mentioned below).
The Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership produced a Covid-19 Briefing for professionals - Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership
Covid-19 Briefing
Expectations on the statutory safeguarding partners in relation to serious incident notifications, rapid reviews, serious case reviews and child
safeguarding practice reviews was provided in a joint communication from the Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel and the Department for
Education.
The www.gatesheadsafeguarding.org.uk website was updated with a Coronavirus section, keeping all our information in one place. Communication
updates provided via our email circulation lists.

Page 46

The statutory safeguarding partners of the Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership and Gateshead Safeguarding Adults Board held joint Safeguarding
Partnerships meeting on a four-weekly basis along with the Business Managers, to discuss safeguarding activity, monitor trends, seek assurance and
forward plan.

A challenge identified within these meetings for safeguarding children was working with Courts to prioritise cases where there have been COVID delay
(some delay was resulting in increasing LAC numbers). Children’s Social Care implemented a RAG rating system for children whose court cases have been
delayed (i.e. adoption orders, care orders, rehabilitation plans). Partners considered and recognised the complexities of the issues facing the LA and
parents with plans for schools re-opening fully and contingency planning around domestic abuse was also shared with the recruitment of two new posts
focussed on behaviour change within the Domestic Abuse Team.

At the end of March 2020, the Designated Nurse (CCG) set up and coordinated weekly information sharing meetings with partners to discuss current
safeguarding arrangements, significant changes to usual practice and any specific concerns which focussed on how best to work together and support each
other whilst safeguarding children. These meetings moved to fortnightly as lockdown started to ease. GSCP meetings resumed in July 2020.
Covid-19: A Year We Must Not Forget is a powerful personal account of the pandemic from Gateshead's Director of Public Health
Alice Wiseman. The poem, read by Alice and some of her fellow Directors of Public Health, recognises those who stepped up to
face one of the biggest challenges of our lifetimes and highlights what can be achieved when we all pull together.

7

We are better
together, standing
side by side..

Behind the Masks: Gateshead’s Covid Stories
Covid-19 has created many challenges for everyone who lives and works in Gateshead. We have all been in the same storm but we have not all been in the same boat. The Director of Public Health’s annual report (Behind the Masks: Gateshead’s
Covid Stories) focuses on how the pandemic has highlighted and worsened inequalities and calls for revitalised and re-focused
action on tackling them.

Page 47
5.

The report brings together personal accounts from residents and the professionals who support them. Their stories, shared
here in their own words, form an invaluable record of Covid's devastating impact and what we must learn from it to make
Gateshead a place where everyone thrives. This video, produced to accompany the report, features contributors from
healthcare, public sector and third sector organisations sharing their views on the impact of Covid-19, growing inequalities
across the borough and what we can learn from the pandemic.
The report shares lessons from ‘our teacher called Covid’ – the GSCP will be working with the Health and Wellbeing Board
(HWBB) on the areas of work that impact on children and their families; two of our Statutory Safeguarding Partners, are
members of the HWBB – Summary of Gateshead Health & Wellbeing Strategy is included at Section 12

Gateshead Local Area Context

A unitary authority with a
population of 205,500

33.5% of Gateshead’s
children live in child poverty
- 11,769 children. An
increase of 8.8% since 2015

0-25 population is 56,947
(28% of the whole
population)

12.78% of pupils in
Gateshead schools identify
as having a minority ethnic
background.

The single largest ethnic
group after White British is
White East European (521
pupils), followed by Mixed
White and Asian (245).

8

The proportion of children
entitled to free school meals
is 24.8%

Languages other than
English are spoken as a first
language by 2240 pupils

6.

Performance data - window on the system

In the 12 months to September 2021, compared to the year ending March 2021, there were:
6791 contacts received by IRT

• 5% increase (323) more than last year
• Police account majority of contacts (64%)
• 9.1% increase (292) in police contacts

Page 48

307 children were made subject to a
child protection plan (new)
• 7% increase (20) more than last year
• 21.2% made subject to plan for a second or
subsequent time, same as last year (stat
neighbour av. 22%)
• 2.6% (8) made subject to second plan within
12 months, fall from 4.2% last year

183 children entered care
• Same number as in the previous year
• 16% of the children had previously been in
care, the same as the previous year

430 children were in care at the
period end

1953 referrals received by CSC
• 20.5% increase (332) more
than last year
• 20.5% increase in rate of
referral to 495 per 10,000
(stat neighbour av. 536)
• 19.7% repeat referrals
within 12 months, (av. 22%)

662 Section 47s
initiated
•

10.7% increase (64) more
than last year

338 children subject to
an ICPC
•

7.6% increase (24) more than
last year

98% of ICPCS in 15
working days

246 children were on child protection plans during the time
(ongoing)

• 19.4% increase (40) more than last year
• 19.4% increase in rate CPP to 62.5 per 10,000 (stat neighbour av. 55)
• Emotional abuse is the main reason for child protection plans

430 children in care

• 2.9% reduction in number placed 20 miles from
home (33)
• The majority of children remain in Gateshead
Council Placements, better than comparator
authorities

• 2.1% (9) fewer than last year
• 2.1% decrease in rate of children in care to
109.2 per 10,000 (stat neighbour av. 99)

9

Stability of
placements

• 4% of children in
care have
experienced 3 or
more placements,
was 7.3% last year
• 70% of children in
long term stable
placements, same as
last year

Key performance
measures for CP

• 5.3% of plans (17)
ended after 2 years,
increase from 3.4%
(12) last year
• 100% of reviews
held in timescales

183 children left care
• 18.1% increase (28)

from last year
• 30% of made subject of
a Special Guardianship
Order, was 28% last
year
• 12.6% of were
adopted, was 12.9%
last year

7.

Business Plan

The Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP) Business Plan sets the strategic direction for the GSCP. The plan identifies specific priorities for
action and is clear about roles and accountability. Progress on actions identified in the action plan is included at Appendix 1.
GSCP agreed the following priorities for 2019-2021:

Strategic Priorities

Page 49

• Protecting vulnerable children and young people
• Leadership
• Learning

Thematic Priorities
• Voice of the child
• Mental health & emotional wellbeing
• Child exploitation & children who go missing

The GSCP is currently considering priority areas for the next three years. We are consulting with partners (including schools) and a new Business Plan will
be developed and published by the summer 2022.

8.

What have we achieved and what impact have we seen?

The following information seeks to evidence the work going on across the whole partnership, and the impact of that work.

10

8.1 Strategic Priorities
Protecting Vulnerable Children and Young People
Police
A key priority for Northumbria Police is to protect and safeguard vulnerable children and young people, to identify opportunities for early intervention /
prevention, and pursue perpetrators who cause harm. We do this with a coordinated partnership response, cognisant of diverse needs and vulnerabilities,
to safeguard vulnerable children and young people and tackle perpetrators.
As part of our commitment to protecting the vulnerable the force has a Vulnerability Strategy and is currently launching its Early Intervention Strategy and
delivery plan. The plan has four pillars around Working together, Preventative Intervention, Community Resilience and Our People.

Page 50

The ultimate aim is to achieve a safe environment for people, their families and the wider communities to thrive without fear of harm and to ensure
perpetrators are identified and targeted, and that the opportunity for them to cause further harm is removed or minimised.
To strengthen the force’s approach to vulnerability in the coming year we are launching a Vulnerability awareness training programme which is to be rolled
out to all front-line practitioners with a focus on Early Intervention and use of the three Cs (Communication, Clues and Curiosity).
Northumbria Police have recently created a Strategic Innovation Partnership Team (SIP). This ensures that same member of the Safeguarding Senior
Management Team (SMT) at Detective Chief Inspector level attends all six of the Local Authority’s Safeguarding Children Partnerships. Within the SIP team,
there is now a learning and improvement function, overseen by a Detective Inspector who will attend all learning and improvement/quality improvement
subgroups, to work with partners to drive and share internal and external learning and improvement. The SIP team will help support the GSCP priorities
and provides a consistent and innovative approach to Safeguarding and the development of child procedures.
Neglect
Northumbria Police is committed to reducing instances of child neglect. All reports are subject to daily oversight from the Detective Inspector within
dedicated Child Abuse Teams. There is a drive to work with our partners throughout the force area to establish the root cause of the issues and provide
help and support to prevent any reoccurrence.
When a prosecution is justified these are driven by supervisory oversight to make the process as quick as possible to limit the impact to victims throughout.
All investigations are conducted by specialist investigators within Child Abuse teams who are trained in interviewing children.

11

Safeguarding children under 1 year old - including non-accidental head injuries and co-sleeping
All reports of this nature are brought daily to the attention of specialist child abuse teams and scrutinised and reviewed at Detective Inspector level. Staff
attend and share information at all levels of multi-agency meetings to ensure accurate interventions and safety plans are in place. Detective Inspectors
attend all rapid review meeting for serious injury and SUDI, and continues with the child death review panel and joint learning review processes.
Lessons learned are disseminated and staff attend formal delivery sessions as part of their CPD for the SCADIP accreditation.
All reports of this nature are investigated by Child Abuse specialist detectives who have a nationally recognised SCADIP qualification. (Specialist child abuse
qualification from the College of Policing).

Page 51

Newcastle Gateshead Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
During what has been an unprecedented year with the pandemic the importance of protecting children and young people has never been so great. The
CCG has worked with partner agencies to seek assurance that alternate plans were put in place to continue to reach those children and families most at
risk using robust risk assessments, personal protective equipment where required and the increased use of virtual technology to maintain vital links. Due to
the 'stay at home' essential message children and families were less visible which meant practitioners sought out new methods to protect vulnerable
children and inform the safeguarding process. One example of this was the introduction of GPs using Microsoft Teams to dial into child protection
conferences and other safeguarding meetings. This process was developed with children's social care, a Named GP and the Safeguarding Children team in
the CCG. Preliminary feedback has demonstrated this can be productive in allowing GPs to contribute to the meeting and inform decision making. Further
evaluation will take place as this progresses.
LD Healthchecks
CCG’s Children, Young People and Families team (CYPF) have launched Good Practice Learning Disability Health Check guidelines for Primary Care and
Education, and the next steps are to link in with our special schools and work with young people directly to develop easy-to-read materials as well as
producing a Good Health film around these checks.
0-19 Service - Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT)
During the pandemic teams worked together to assess risk and identify children, young people and families who were of greatest concern to ensure home
contacts continued and care was in place for them. It was important that decisions to either home visit or provide a virtual contact was based on
assessment of cumulative risk and staff were supported by the integrated management team to ensure that an assessment of risk was considered and
recorded. 0-19 services quickly adapted to virtual contacts for non-essential contacts, based on the Family Health Needs Assessment and cumulative risk.
This ensured that home visiting was prioritised for the Primary Visit (the first post-natal contact) those children and young people assessed as being most
at risk and for the primary visit.
Teams Video Conferencing quickly became the new normal and has been invaluable in allowing the successful governance required to maintain services,
flex to meet evolving risk and maintain contact with colleagues who were largely now agile working.

12

The HDFT wider safeguarding team submitted a successful business case to expand the Specialist Safeguarding Team including 1.0 Floating Specialist Nurse
for Child Protection to work across the footprint to meet surges in demand and three Band 6 Strategy Nurses to ensure HDFT representation at Strategy
Meetings.
Safeguarding Transformation in 5-19 has continued across Gateshead with structural change with new processes in place.
HDFT undertook a review of the Domestic Abuse protocol for welfare calls completed in response to the growing pressures on the 0-19 service.
Single Point of Contact (SPOC) hours initially extended in response to Covid including weekend and bank holiday cover, further revised extended hours of
cover continues and a footprint wide survey was used to gather service user feedback for SPOC provision. In response, a pilot was introduced to have staff
calls directed to local specialist nurses as highlighted in the survey.

Page 52

Service Transformation: Gateshead Specific
5-19 transformation progressed across Gateshead to free up capacity within 0-19 service to target the most vulnerable children with outstanding health
needs. This has been the key focus on the Named Nurse Child Protection in service improvement across the Gateshead area. Transformation planning
began in Gateshead during 2020-21. Monthly meetings were scheduled with the wider 5-19 service in order to ensure an integrated approach to the
Transformation work and to develop a bespoke model for Gateshead which the school nursing service and the safeguarding team were fully involved in.
The initial transformation meeting was held in January 2021 with the general manager and service manager to discuss the planning that had taken place to
date. Workflows, processes and models were designed based on learning from other areas that had already progressed through service transformation.
The move to full transformation falls into the year 2021-22.
Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust (CNTW)
CNTW attend MSET, Youth Justice Board, Complex Pupil Education Panel and Dynamic risk register meetings. These meetings are attended by either our
Team managers or Clinical leads to ensure leadership oversight of them. We have CNTW good practice guidance with transition from children services to
adults, and this starts at 17.5 years of age. If support is needed we link with adult services and try to attend appointments, sometimes after the age of 18 to
offer a smooth transition. Internally there is lots of work taking place around transitions between services and teams. We also have the locality Crisis team
for young people that works 24/7 to enable excellent access to services.
Safeguarding is an agenda item in all our supervision sessions, and if the young person’s case is complex, we seek support and advice from our
Safeguarding and Public Protection (SAPP) team. We attend and contribute to the umbrella of child protection work, by attending child protection
meetings and contributing to the reports.
Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service (TWFRS)
TWFRS continued to offer and deliver our Juvenile Firesetters Education Programme throughout 2020-2021. We adapted to find venues outside the home,
including schools, in gardens, public spaces, community centres and places of worship, to offer support and education for young people aged 3-17 with
firesetting behaviour, and their families.
13

We delivered our SafetyWorks session for six Gateshead schools; engaging with over 200 young people on a range of safety topics.
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust (GHNFT)
Evidence suggests that young people who have experienced the care system are more likely to have an unplanned teenage pregnancy and subsequent care
proceedings in relation to their children (Broadhurst et al, 2017 and Roberts et al 2017). With that in mind, the Looked After Children’s health team in
Gateshead, in conjunction with Gateshead Sexual Health Service, have completed a gap analysis with the overall aim of finding out what needs to be done
for young people in Gateshead to enable us to turn the trend for them and truly make the issue of sexual health and unplanned pregnancy prevention
everyone’s business.

Page 53

The gap analysis included the circulation of two separate confidential questionnaires for completion via an online link, one for professionals and carers, and
the other for young people. The links to the questionnaires were shared via email, staff communications and across the social media platforms Facebook
and Twitter.

110 responses were received from young people and 116 from professionals/carers between July and October 2021. The findings and recommendations
from the gap analysis will be shared with partners at the beginning of 2022.
Gateshead Council
Social Workers in School (SWIS) - An initiative that has proved invaluable during the pandemic
Social Workers in School (SWIS) programme

What have we done
• Introduced Social Workers in Schools - embed six experienced social workers in secondary schools to reduce referral rates to children’s social care
(CSC), the number of cared for children, and to improve educational attainment.
• Promoted stronger inter-agency working between schools and children’s social care.
What is the impact
• Very strong relationships established between school and social work staff AND a much better understanding of thresholds and respective challenges
of each other’s work.
• Preventative work has had a positive impact on children and families.
• Provided training for school staff on trauma informed and systemic model of practice.
• Schools are better able to apply a certain amount of safe uncertainty when concerned about children and apply a more curious view of children’s
individual contexts and daily lived experience.
• Very positive feedback from schools (see below).
Social Worker Experience

14

Page 54

Social Worker 1
“I love the benefit of working with professionals who are locality based (school, health, community police etc) as this gives more opportunity to
build stronger relationships. This makes collaborative working more efficient and effective, which is a positive for the children and families. This
will only get better over time”.
“An unexpected benefit has been that I feel more invested in the school life of the children I work with, even if they are not in the school I am
based (i.e., primary or other secondary). Being part of ‘school life’ makes it a bigger part of my thinking and I understand how the school
functions, so it is easier to have conversations with children and families about it. When school is such a big part of children’s lives this has been a
real advantage”.
“The biggest impact comes from having more time as I have a lower-case load. This means I can spend more time with children and families, in
school or at home, when they need it. I have also been able to talk to young people and families in school, as a preventative measure, when the
school are concerned things are deteriorating but it is unclear if it meets threshold. This has been enough to give the family and school confidence
that the issues can be managed without formal support, or I would support them to be clear why it does need to be referred in for formal
support. Being a familiar face and ‘available’ in school, gives the school, families and children reassurance that someone is available to talk to
when needed, which is sometimes enough support”.
Social Worker 2
“The positive approach embraced by the school has been incredible, from day one they made it clear that I was very welcome within the school
and made it clear that my ideas and support were a welcome addition”.
What professionals said –
School counsellor
“It has been very beneficial having the Social work service based in school, having an immediate response is paramount for the safety of the
children. The knowledge they have of various systems and who to refer to has been extremely useful. I feel it has broken a stigma that some
children may hold of Social workers and has helped them to realise that they are here to help, which has allowed them to build a supportive
trusting relationship. I personally feel for me as a Counsellor within the School it has brought more of a Holistic approach within in the school and
opened important lines of communication internally and with external agencies which is very important in supporting the Children and their
families”.
What children and their families said.
“despite having on/off social care support for years, SW has offered the most support we have ever received and visiting us often and keeping in
touch has really helped”.
Young person - “SW’s been amazing. She’s been one of the only ones to give me support through the uni process and honestly don’t think I
would’ve got in anywhere without her help. She’s always been super friendly and up for a laugh and it’s so nice to have someone to chat to
through free lessons”.
15

Page 55

Young person – “SW and her team have been very supportive within our school environment. SW has been attentive to our needs and has offered
assistance and support for us all in many aspects such as our emotional needs by allowing us to talk to her whenever we need it as well as
helping us through stressful time periods like submitting personal statements. She doesn’t question any discussion and listens to every query we
have in school; she has been a member of staff that has stepped up and shown interest in us as students and what we want to achieve. I feel SW
scheme in school has been extremely supporting and I couldn’t recommend SW as a supportive role worker enough”.
Young person – “SW and her team in my school have completely changed the level of support for the better, they are always there for advice
emotional support and even just a general conversation. I think most people in sixth form would agree that there was a huge gap in well-being
support and SW has always made everyone feel welcome no matter how big or small the issue may seem”.
“Recently while struggling to complete our UCAS applications before the deadline, we were all feeling down and lost in the workload.. SW was a
strong support figure, and we couldn’t be more grateful”
Parent- “Further to our conversation on Friday, I would like to thank you for all of your help and support over the last few weeks. I know a lot of
people have negative views on social workers and automatically have a fear that they are only there to take your children. However, you have
been extremely lovely to deal with and have made us all feel at ease and comfortable throughout the whole process. You have changed my view
on social workers! Again, thank you for everything and keep on being a brilliant social worker and a lovely lady”.
Launched Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC) service for families with substance misuse issues (FDAC website includes Information for families
and information for professionals)

Launched Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC) service for families with substance misuse issues
What have we done
• Gateshead Council hosts the North East Family Drug and Alcohol Court (FDAC NE) in partnership with Newcastle and North Tyneside LAs.
• A therapeutic problem-solving court providing a relational approach to care proceedings, for parents presenting with substance misuse issues.
• Multi-disciplinary team of professionals from mental health, substance misuse, social work, clinical psychologist and consultant psychiatrist.
• Team works intensively with families undertaking specialist assessment and developing bespoke, clinically informed intervention plans for parents to
change behaviours to secure the best possible outcome for their children.
• Interventions address problematic behaviours which led to care proceedings and supports parents to achieve abstinence from substances,
understanding the traumatic drivers which led to their use, becoming a safe and responsive parent and living a child centred lifestyle.
• Parents attend fortnightly and are supported to review their progress and explore any barriers by specially trained FDAC Judges who support and
motivate and catalyse parental behaviour change.
FDAC NE Judge’s feedback:
‘An invaluable resource in the family courts. for families with substance abuse issues, FDAC provides the best chance for families to make lasting
changes for the benefit of the children and themselves. I am consistently impressed with the approach and expertise of the team, and how much
16

better the experience of the families in proceedings is as a result. I think it is important to realise that huge improvements can be made within
FDAC, and that this change is more likely to be long-lasting and deep rooted. The FDAC team is a positive and welcome addition to the family
courts.’
What is the impact
• Since May 2021, FDAC North East has supported 29 families.
• Currently 13 families engaged with eight referrals currently pending and undergoing the pre-screening process.
• Four families reaching conclusion of proceedings - two cases - reunification with parent(s), one case - children to be cared for by extended family
members, one case - adoption.
• Parents have achieved abstinence and better able to engage with services and meet their own needs, while working relationally with the team and the
FDAC Judges.

Page 56

Recent feedback from parents involved with FDAC NE
Parental feedback:
‘I try my best to think first before taking action now.’
‘We used to be nervous coming to court to meet our Judge, but we look forward to telling them what we have done – it makes my day’.
Social Worker’s feedback:
‘I think FDAC has been the best possible process for the family I am working with in both giving the parent the opportunity to change and finding
the right plan for the children. The FDAC worker has gone above and beyond in both supporting this parent and trying to promote change. The
whole process has been exposing in the sense it has shown the parents strengths, but also identified opportunities for change which could have
easily been missed with social work intervention alone. Ultimately, this makes sure the right decision is made for the children. I feel the parent has
had every possible opportunity‘

SEND Service – Collaboration across agencies
To understand SEND children and young people’s new, emerging or existing needs and work out how best to support them during the pandemic.
Fortnightly meetings with the Parent Carer Forum involving staff from education, health and care to resolve any concerns and share information
(including members of the strategic board).
Weekly meetings with the head teachers of special schools and representatives from education, health, public health, social care.
A proactive approach to encouraging school attendance for vulnerable children and sharing of RAG rating to ensure all aware of those viewed to be
at greatest risk, should parents decide not to take up the offer of school places.

17

Co-production with children and young people with SEND and their families.
• New Parent Carer Forum (PFC) has strong leadership and has direct access to senior leaders to share any issues with services across the system.
• Parents represented on all SEND development groups and making a valued contribution to the work being undertaken.
• Development of SEND Youth Network.
• Co-production of SEND Local Area Newsletter with parents and young people.
• Co-production of information for the Local Offer which will have a ‘Young People’s Hub’ and includes input from young people on Independent
Travel and Living.

Page 57

There have been multiple resources made available to staff to support wellbeing and resilience:
• Emotional wellbeing sessions with psychologist/counsellors
• Staff able to access this preventative measure, reducing potential sickness. Very positive feedback. Consistent and continued delivery of our
services to families and young people.
• Weekly dedicated time for ‘catch up and coffee’ to chat with colleagues
• This has led to an improvement in staff morale, reducing potential sickness, so consistent and continued delivery of our service to families
and young people.
• Buddy systems for staff
• Designed to support staff isolating and who were living alone/ those who were finding working through a pandemic more difficult.
Safeguarding Children Unit / Independent Reviewing Officers – UPDATE
The IRO team has 9 Independent Reviewing Officers (including the Local Authority Designated Officer and an IRO for Foster Care reviews)
Some highlights from the IRO annual report (2020-21)
What we do. not just a chair!
Oversee planning for
Children in our Care
and Children who have
Child Protection Plans

Complex Abuse
Strategy Meetings

Children detained in
hospital

Children who have
interim court orders –
e.g. Interim
Supervision Orders

Children who are in
Private Fostering
Arrangements

Children who have left
care and whose
situations are complex

Performance and
Quality Assurance

Practice Development
and training

Provide Statements
and give evidence in
court

18

Family Drug and
Alcohol Court (FDAC)

Some of our key achievements.
Within a short time we adapted to home working and convening meetings virtually.
We continued to meet with children.
Most Child Protection Conferences have been held in timescale.
Most of those children whose situations are brought to conference are provided with a child protection plan – thresholds are right.
Most Children in our Care have their reviews in timescale.
As referrals to LADO have increased we have sought to streamline the process.
Some of the challenges.
The rising number of children coming into our care.
the rising number of children who have Child Protection Plans.
the complexity of cases and how needs can be addressed with reduced services and restrictions.
creating safety in a virtual conference.

Page 58

What comes next?
Taking a lead in the development of narrative practice across our own and Children’s Services.
Taking a lead in the development of a policy for children who live in foster care homes and are of a different ethnicity.
Using the learning from disruption (for children in our care and where they live) to create greater stability.
Demonstrating the impact of our challenge.
Supporting the redevelopment of Families Rights Advocacy Gateshead (FRAG) meetings (to support parents who have children involved with
Children's Social Care).

Identifying and responding to children’s needs and appropriate thresholds – summary of ofsted report
Focused visit to Gateshead children’s services
Ofsted carried out a focused visit in September 2021. Inspectors evaluated the quality of help and protection provided to vulnerable
children and their families in the ‘front door’. They met with social workers and their managers and looked in detail at children’s
records. In addition, inspectors appraised the quality and impact of the local authority’s performance management and audit
arrangements. This visit was carried out in line with the inspection of local authority children’s services (ILACS) framework – see
summary of findings

…Responses to
children at risk
of harm are
timely and
effective.

Highlights re Partnership working:
Report highlights ‘closely aligned, mature professional partnerships work together effectively to safeguard children from harm’
Inspectors found that ‘thresholds are understood well and scrutinised frequently’ and that ‘partner agencies have a shared understanding of thresholds’.
19

Multi-agency child protection strategy meetings are used constructively to share information about children, leading to well-informed decisions
about what needs to happen next to protect them from harm.
…Proportionate checks are undertaken with professionals; they work closely together and collaborate well.
The child’s views and lived experiences are central to most decisions, plans and planning. Effective, proportionate action is taken, protecting children
from harm
…most children and families get the right level of help and protection at the right time, delivered by very committed and skilled professionals. This is
making a difference to their day-to-day lives and is keeping them safer…
Ofsted recognised that we have continued to innovate, despite increased demands and the pandemic and we have continued to improve practice.

Page 59

Leadership
Police
The Head of Safeguarding is a Detective Chief Superintendent who has completed a Public Protection and Safeguarding Leadership programme ran by the
College of Policing. The Detective Chief Superintendent is responsible for the strategic leadership and performance of the Safeguarding department and is
supported in this by two Detective Superintendents, who manage the operational and strategic response. A Detective Chief Inspector and a Detective
Inspector within Northumbria Police’s Child and Adult Protection team oversee all investigations against children within Northumbria Police’s Child and
Adult Protection teams.
In addition to the SIP Detective Chief Inspector, who attends the Safeguarding Partnerships, both the Safeguarding hub’s Detective Chief Inspector and
Detective Inspector engage in subgroups, providing police input on leadership and operational issues.
There is a commitment from Northumbria Police to invest in leadership of the Safeguarding Detective Chief Inspector’s and Superintendents who will all
complete the Public Protection and Safeguarding Leadership programme offered by the College of Policing.
Clinical Commissioning Group
Since the start of lockdown resulting in reduced visibility of children and families, a weekly meeting was set up in April 2020 by the CCG Designated Nurse
Safeguarding Children which included partner agencies from both Local Authorities, Police, Health providers and Education. This created an opportunity for
early identification of emerging issues which could be escalated accordingly, an overview of what was happening on the ground and a support mechanism
for practitioners to share their experiences. A summary of key themes was shared with the safeguarding children partnership. This has continued
throughout the pandemic, reducing currently to fortnightly meetings and its continuation will be evaluated accordingly. Feedback from practitioners in
relation to the weekly catch-up meetings has been positive, "I have found touching base with everyone incredibly useful over the past months".

20

The safeguarding children and adult team within the CCG recognised the importance of raising awareness of safeguarding and providing an opportunity for
people to ask for help. NGCCG arranged for safeguarding resources in the form of posters and banners to be displayed at Covid testing sites. It was
important to make every contact count as this may be the only opportunity for someone to seek support. This was recognised nationally as good practice
by NHS England/Improvement. "The idea and approach has been shared with national colleagues who are looking to promote and implement across the
country, adapting to ensure all aspects of testing can include key safeguarding messages".
Clinical Commissioning Group - Children Young People and Families Team
The Children, Young People and Families team (CYPF) have a developed a new Portfolio Lead & Designated Clinical Officer (DCO) role. Acting as DCO and
lead commissioner, the role encompasses all aspects of ensuring high quality, safe, value for money services and support for children and young people
across the spectrum of universal and specialist requirements.
Gateshead Council
Ofsted: The well respected and experienced director of children’s services (DCS), together with her senior team, has created a culture where doing the right
thing to help children and their families is embedded across teams.

Page 60

Managers and senior managers use real time performance data to provide effective management oversight of front-line practice. The daily caseload activity
report, which is child specific, supports effective monitoring of daily caseloads, highlight supervisions, visiting patterns caseloads by team and by individual
social worker. The impact of this approach is managers are aware of any practice gaps in real time that may need to be addressed.
Reducing Parental Conflict
Gateshead leads the referral gateway for the national Reducing Parental Conflict (Relationships Matter) Programme on behalf of ten local authorities in the
North East region, one of four pilot regions nationally. The programme provides four evidence-based pathways of support for couples and co-parents
experiencing relationship conflict where frequent, intense and poorly resolved discord is having an adverse impact on the wellbeing of dependent children.
Interventions are provided by Relate, Action for Children and Changing Future North East and include Mentalization Based Therapy, Incredible Years
Advanced, Parenting When Separated and Family Check Up.
A total of 1,546 (regional) referrals were received by the Gateway by October 2021. The programme will end on 31 March 2022 following a regional
learning event (15 March 2022) to help Local Authorities develop a local RPC offer from April 2022 onwards.
Further grants from DWP have been used to commission research into the identification and response to relationship conflict by front-door (children’s
services) response teams, deliver RPC training for practitioners and provide (One Plus One) digital tools for direct use by parents.
Development of Gateshead’s Social Work Academy
What have we done?
Secured funding for ASYE Academy, including 10 newly qualified social worker (NQSW) posts, assistant team manager and team manager.
21

Recruited 20 NQSWs and an ASYE team manager.
Created ASYE Academy team – NQSW spend first 6 months in post gaining experience across service.
Appoint 16 experienced social workers and Practice Educators to mentor NQSWs.
Evaluate impact – staff and manager feedback – plus independent evaluation planned for summer 2022.
Updated Workforce Development input to provide high quality training to support holistic development.
Appointed new Principal Social Worker - moderator of ASYE portfolios.

Page 61

What is the impact?
An ASYE Academy team with a strong learning culture in the Gateshead CAN practice model, developing NQSWs during their ASYE and preparing
them for social work practice in established teams. NQSWs are having an impact in their work with families across Assessment and Intervention,
Safeguarding, Children with Disabilities, Kinship, Fostering, Cared for Children and Leaving Care, and will take their learning forward in their social
work careers.
A higher level of support for all NQSWs including those in established teams through their ASYE mentors and a centralised point of contact of the
ASYE Academy manager.
Families in Gateshead benefit as social work practice and development has a focus on reflective practice and a learning culture from an early point
in a NQSW career within the Academy. NSQW are supported well with appropriate management support, creating a culture which promotes
creativity.
Feedback from a NQSW: “the level of support and commitment permeates through Children and Families.”
Feedback from an ASYE mentor: “This is a good source of personal development, to be able to expand my own knowledge and skills regarding
supervision. It is also a space to step back and reflect/think, critically examine situations, this encourages more reflexive practice.”
Feedback from a Service Manager: “ASYE social workers from the academy have been a valuable source of support for placement stability within
Fostering. More specifically they have provided a fresh perspective on a long-term matched placement.”
Gateshead Council – Education, Schools and Inclusion
Summary of action taken in response to “School Closure” during lockdown.
The Council and the schools agreed that all schools should remain open for the children of key workers and vulnerable children. This decision was
made as it kept both children and staff in a familiar environment reducing any potential emotional stress and also kept children in small and more
‘safe’ bubbles.
The School Meal Service provided all children eligible for a free school meal with a meal. If these children were not attending school then school
staff or volunteers often delivered meals to their homes.
School staff often became part of a rota that reduced the number of adults in school; reducing the risk of infection.
Children attending schools were taught in small groups or bubbles with a highly adapted curriculum.
Schools quickly produced online resources to support learning or signposted parents to high quality resources.
22

Most schools contacted pupils and parents/carers by phone to keep in close contact and provide academic or emotional support.
A core group of the Council’s education staff remained at Dryden to provide direct support for schools. A daily email has been produced since
lockdown began.
The education team produced a recovery curriculum that supported schools for the time when all children returned to school from September
2020. The Recovery Curriculum had a significant focus on emotional wellbeing.
The Council’s Social Care and Education Teams worked together to identify those children that would most benefit from returning to school.
Approximately 70% of the identified pupils returned to school.
Headteacher representatives met every week (in person and safely) with education, HR, school meals & cleaning, public health and health & safety
officers to discuss the practicalities of opening schools during a pandemic and keeping children, families and staff safe
A council produced risk assessment was completed by all schools and shared with the Unions. Using this risk assessment schools decided how they
would reintroduce more children to school. Not all schools followed the Government guidance of Nursery, Reception, Y1 and Y6 returning at the
same time.
Recovery Curriculum

Page 62

What have we done?
• From the initial school lockdown it became evident that most children would not receive the high quality education at home as in school, even with
best online provision.
• The LA and its school’s response was to form a working party to prepare for the children returning to school.
• The working party produced a range of documents that supported pupils and staff to follow a curriculum, primarily, in English and Mathematics that
identified key areas of learning that would need to be learnt before further progress could be made.
• An assessment framework was also produced to support formative assessment and to track progress.
• In addition to an academic curriculum other “recovery areas” were included to support teachers and pupils.
• Physical Education – the Schools Sport Partnership provided expert advice to schools with guidance on getting all children physically active.
• Gateshead Educational Psychology service, working alongside teachers produced a range of materials that supported the mental health of returning
children. This work has continued.
• In addition, an online working group was created that provided further guidance to schools about educating pupils while they were unable to attend.
• Finally, a further working group provided advice to school clusters on transition arrangements from Year 6 to Year 7.
The recovery curriculum approach
I.
supported teachers to identify and address the most significant gaps in pupils learning.
II.
provided materials and training for teachers to support the mental health needs of returning pupils.
III.
stressed the importance and gave practical advice on pupils becoming physically active.
What is the impact?
23

• The Recovery Curriculum materials have received significant praise from school leaders and teachers. The materials have helped schools to accelerate
pupils learning as much as possible following the lockdowns. The approach to recovery over a longer period of time rather than short term “catch up”
has proved successful and is ongoing.
• Received extremely positive feedback from Cath Hitchen, DfE SEND Adviser, on the impact of the materials on those pupils with additional needs.
0-19 Service - Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT)

Page 63

At the start of lockdown the Business Continuity Plan and Safeguarding Risk assessments were developed by 0-19 (25) and Safeguarding Specialist
Services, prioritising safeguarding contacts and ensuring that safeguarding was a key focus and threaded through all virtual and face to face
contacts.
Named Nurse key member of the governance structure which included daily Covid meetings and local daily management huddles working closely
together in integrated management teams to manage risk.
Development of Clinical Advisory Groups were developed to provide the clinical governance to ensure quick safe decision making and the weekly
Named Nurse Clinical Advisory Group ensured that safeguarding issues were quickly addressed, and risk was monitored regularly.

Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service
TWFRS Station Manager now represents fire service on the GSCP, contributing on our behalf, and bringing learning and best practice to the Service.

Learning and improvement
Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review – Baby Alfie
A Rapid Review Meeting was held by Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership in January 2021. This was in response to an incident where a young
baby, who will be referred to in this report as Alfie, suffered significant injuries whilst in the care of his mother and her partner. The Rapid Review Meeting
identified the need to undertake a Learning Review. The National Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel subsequently agreed there was value in
undertaking a Learning Review and requested that it was published as a Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review.
An independent reviewer was identified in September 2021 to undertake the review and a multi-agency learning review workshop was held in October
2021. The final report will be presented and agreed by the Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership and then shared with the National Child
Safeguarding Practice Review (CSPR) Panel and What Works Centre for Children’s Social Care (WWCSC) and published on our website (in line with statutory
guidance). Learning from the LSCPR will be shared across the partnership. An action plan is being developed and will be overseen by the Quality, Learning
and Practice group, with regular updates to GSCP.

24

Transitional Safeguarding
Gateshead and South Tyneside Safeguarding Partnerships joined forces to organise a regional transitional safeguarding workshop which took place on 23rd
February 2021. This was opened by Steve Baguley from the National Working Group, and the keynote speech was provided by Dez Holmes from Research
in Practice. Over 170 senior leaders from across the Northumbria and Durham areas attended. National and regional best practice was shared, and senior
leaders from Gateshead had the opportunity to come together to discuss our approach and what we need to focus upon in the future.
Fifteen scoping workshops have been held with front line practitioners from children and adults social care to understand issues and gaps associated with
the wider transitions agenda. Work is ongoing across all sub-groups to drive forward improvements to transitional safeguarding based upon the identified
learning – Transitional Safeguarding is going to be a priority focus for GSCP over the next three years.
Information Sharing
Local, regional and national case reviews and audits consistently highlight the need to clarify when and how information can and should be shared; missed
opportunities to record, understand the significance of and share information in a timely manner can have serious consequences for the safety and welfare
of children and adults at risk. It is essential that collaborative working and good information sharing is established throughout agencies, at all levels, which
is then embedded through effective safeguarding practice.

Page 64

The new Information Sharing Protocol (ISP) and flowchart has been developed to address information sharing both at strategic level and operational level
within the arenas of Safeguarding Children and Adult Safeguarding. It is intended that agencies with the potential to be involved in safeguarding
investigations will sign up to the use of this protocol. This protocol is agreed with the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Data Protection Act 2018
and the UK General Data Protection Regulations (UK GDPR) and the Human Rights Act 1998.
Learning from other reviews
All national reviews and regional case reviews are discussed at GSCP and any learning relevant for Gateshead is implemented. This includes reviewing our
procedures and training offer and making changes, where necessary. As we share regional safeguarding procedures, we can make sure this is implemented
across the six areas.

Procedures
Our shared regional multi-agency safeguarding procedures are available online and managed by tri.x; we have the opportunity to make updates to the
manual twice each year. If procedures need to be updated following learning from a case review, these can be implemented immediately. Any
amendments to procedures/protocols agreed locally are also shared across the six areas and incorporated into the shared procedures, where possible. This
offers consistency for partner agencies working across the wider region. The GSCP Business Manager also helps manage other online procedures
(Children’s Social Care, Children’s Homes, Foster Carer Handbook) so can ensure any learning is incorporated within these too.

25

Pre-birth thresholds and flowchart
We changed the local process regarding unborn babies to avoid undue pressure on parents in the early stages of pregnancy by placing unborn children on
CP too early. IMPACT: Unborn children subject to CPP - reduced from 9.2% to 6.7%
NEW Local Child Safeguarding Review – Framework and Practice Guidance
• This guidance provides GSCP with a framework for the commissioning and dissemination of learning from Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews.
• It also sets out process for Serious Incident Notifications and Rapid Reviews (and replaces the previous guidance).
The SAB have adapted our rapid review process and forms.

Page 65

NEW Learning Methodology Framework
• Sets out four standard methods of extracting and acting upon learning.
• Is applicable to cases where there are examples of good practice for learning across the partnership, but which may provide scope for learning from
which service delivery may be improved.
• OR for cases that do not meet the criteria for a Child Safeguarding Practice Review.
This framework has been used to review three cases, and actions have been incorporated into our Safeguarding Practice Review action plan.
Children’s Society’s Report Children’s lives in: Gateshead - Report provides information on the needs of children and young people living in Gateshead. This
report was shared with GSCP at the meeting in November 2020. We discussed the local data and the recommendations for Local Authorities to consider
and evidence what we are doing already, and if there was anything more we needed to do as a partnership.

Police
Within the Strategic Innovation Partnership (SIP) team there is a dedicated Detective Inspector who has the responsibility to manage and oversee internal
and external learning and improvement. The Detective Inspector attends all learning and improvement/quality improvement subgroups to ensure a
corporate and consistent approach to learning and improvement.
The Detective Inspector reviews all SCR / DHR / SAB / MAPPA reviews to identify internal and external learning and manages our response to this to ensure
learning is embedded in policy and practice and learned throughout the force. The Detective Chief Inspector also sits on the Child Death Review panel to
identify any areas for learning from cases and from learning reports.
0-19 Service – Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT)
The Specialist Safeguarding Children’s Team supported staff through supervision and training and the development of the Family health Needs
assessment/ Risk Assessment documentation.

26

In response to the increase in injuries to babies under 12 months we rolled out the ICON initiative:

I

Infant
crying is
normal

C

Comfort
methods
can soothe

O

Okay to
walk away

N

Never ever
shake or
hurt a baby

Page 66

Vicarious Trauma training was offered/delivered to staff in response to the trauma of dealing with more difficult and complex safeguarding cases.
This training is now a routine element of all Level 3 safeguarding training and HDFT have delivered this training to multi agency partners.
Development of the Safeguarding Digital Offer alongside the 0-19 digital offer to raise the profile of Children’s Safeguarding across HDFT.
Preceptorship pathway to support safeguarding nurses and new staff embedded into practice.
Development of e-learning workbooks to increase training options.
Training compliance within 0-19 services has remained consistently high. In response to the social distancing requirements, training was converted
to e-workbooks and overall, these were positively evaluated. Three large training events Learning from CSPRs and COVID and Impact on
Safeguarding were delivered via Teams and captured large audiences.
Development of role for Band 5 Staff Nurses into the safeguarding team not requiring specialist Children’s Public health Nurse qualification to allow
for skill mix teams

CCG
Nationally there has been an increase in babies suffering physical abuse from non-accidental injuries since the start of the pandemic. The CCG safeguarding
children team has facilitated the roll out of ICON a programme which offers techniques for coping with crying, reducing abusive head trauma and death,
targeted at both parents but particularly fathers, as they are more likely to be perpetrators of this type of abuse. The Safeguarding team has worked with
local health providers including the acute hospitals and primary care and the local authority to promote this programme by delivering a training package
and providing resources. This will continue to be embedded and its impact evaluated.
Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear
CNTW safeguarding team attend the Quality, Learning and Practice and cascade the learning back into the organisation through our safer care directorate.
Internal learning also takes place, as we complete LAAR and AAR reviews as a part of our SUI process, where we have to report out and evidence the
learning is embedded and measure the quality impact of this.
Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service
TYFRS created new Safeguarding procedures and referral forms, with support from GSCP. These new standardised procedures for all five local authorities in
Tyne and Wear have improved the number, quality and consistency of referrals.

27

Gateshead Council
Social workers work to clearly understood standards of practice. The service has now embedded these practice standards.
There are individual service performance standards which clearly articulate the practice expectations of social workers and assist to ensure a
consistency of practice across the whole service.
The service works collaboratively with many parents and families. The impact of this is the number of statutory complaints received by the Service
continues to be low and exceeded by compliments.
“Hello, I would like to express my thanks to [social workers name] for the input she has had with my children and I recently. I felt she was very
caring and compassionate, and provided some much-needed support and advice in my current situation. She was excellent with my children and
made them feel very at ease. Thank you.” from a parent who was helped by Children’s Social Care

Page 67

Family Group Conferencing (FGC)

Expanded Family Group Conferencing (FGC) services - intervention central to strength-based approach to working with families
What have we done?
• A consultation has taken place across Children’s Social Care, Early Help and Independent Reviewing Officers to review the existing FGC offer, a
strategy outlines clear expectations and development of working practices and skills to expand the FGC approach across the spectrum of children’s
services.
• Our ambition is that a more robust and consistent approach to FGC will reduce the number of children becoming looked after, reduce the number of
families re-entering services and enable families to feel more empowered to support themselves and each other.
• To date the Family Group Conference Team have adapted well to the initial challenges of remote working and successfully continue to facilitate FGC
in this way. Consultation with families has concluded that remote engagement has worked well, sustaining a family led approach with families taking
back control of their journey and being central to all decision making regarding them. Capturing the child’s/ young person’s voice has been given
equal priority.
• Face-to-face conferences have been reinstated and a hybrid model of including remote coordination is offered depending on the needs of the family.
• Coordinators are once more able to work with children in Children’s Centre where they have a range of toys and resources to help and encourage the
children to gain a level of trust with them where they feel comfortable to tell their story.
• A schedule for FGC participation in the various social care team meetings is in place with the team paying particular attention to family readiness to
undertake FGC within their presentations. In addition, our Senior FGC practitioner participates in weekly Complex Child in Need Team Unit meetings
to identify where FGC or mediation would be appropriate.
• Implementation of an FGC “opt out” model is underway across Children’s Services. Relationship building with colleagues is developing well and a
shared understanding of access to FGC support is progressing. Where families engage in FGC, the feedback is positive and results in less need for
repeated service involvement. Service user feedback has highlighted the “ownership” the process affords them and appreciation for the respectful
approach from the team. Encouraging and supporting engagement to FGC is being driven through the team who demonstrate a real passion and
belief in the outcomes for families.
28

What is the impact?
• Referrals made to the service have increased - For referrals since the start of 2021 just under 32% have been made at the point where a CIN
assessment or CIN plan is in place.
• In relation to closures, where the case has been allocated for FGC it is a positive that 49.49% of closures from April to September have been deemed
successful with this figure in the period November - April being 43.96%.
• Overall, in the 12-month period 46.84% have been closed with the outcome FGC Successful.

Page 68

Feedback from Families
“The service is a fantastic service available to help parents and stepparents be able to communicate and co parent the right way without the
added drama and conflict. This helped massively as it was my first-time meeting mam of my stepson 8. During covid 19 we had a telephone
conference which still allowed us to discuss contact and be able to move forward. A little tricky when there are probably more than 3-4 people on
a telephone conference call. Other than that the service is fantastic”
“My children are on a CP plan and the FGC has helped me understand things better and my family are now helping me”
“They all said they were really anxious beforehand and through it would be a disaster. They said that without the FGC they would never have
been able to discuss some of the issues they had and they were able to put some facts straight. Mam said that the family had been at war and
they can now start to move forward.”
“Communication and cooperation from their dad is better”
“It was a highly stressful time for the whole family and emotions ran high during the first meeting however the family came away with a plan
that worked extremely well and the feedback was that the stresses had been reduced and maternal grandparents had a plan that supported
them to care for the children very well. If it wasn’t for the FGC family members wouldn’t have been aware of the support wider family were
willing to offer and it meant that the family placement was successful.”
“Service helped me see my daughter”
“From the moment you came into to my home, you put me at ease and made me feel comfortable, in what was a very difficult situation. I felt
that you could relate to me as an individual and how I was feeling and helped to calm any anxieties that I encountered “
“The family meetings that you arranged were informal, in terms of the fact you made us, as a family, feel welcomed whilst retaining a
professional manner at all times. However, you remained professional and approachable throughout. “
Recent Ofsted focused visit found performance management is rigorous. Senior leaders have an accurate grip on frontline practice, supported by
reliable real-time data.
Leaders at all levels regularly investigate variances and emerging concerns in monthly performance clinics, chaired by the deputy strategic director.
For example, a monthly missing-from-care meeting led by the senior management team identified that the number of children engaging in their
missing-from-care interviews was not good enough. Consequently, a dedicated missing-from-care coordinator post has been created and this is
beginning to make a substantial difference.
29

Another example of this, is the increase in number of children going missing from children’s homes, this was picked up at a performance clinic and
also raised by police; this lead to children’s plans and risk assessments being reviewed, and the police missing coordinator being invited to attend
staff meetings at the LA’s children’s homes. This also prompted the review and update of the local missing protocol and development of a more
detailed exploitation screening tool.
The GSCP Business Manager attends children’s social care performance clinics, to ensure any emerging concerns that require a multi-agency response are
picked up, and any safeguarding risks shared with the statutory safeguarding partners.

Page 69

Supporting our children and care leavers
The service is committed to learning from the experiences of children who are re-admitted to care, to prevent this happening to other children which
includes considering the circumstances through discussions at performance clinics. As a result, our rate of children who become looked after for a second
or subsequent time remains low and has reduced.
The Sufficiency Strategy and Fostering Recruitment Strategy show we need to do more to recruit long term foster carers to meet increased demand, which
has become more acute with the recent increases in children in care, and we are seeking to develop more in house residential capacity in recognition of
the positive impact our services and homes can have on the lives of our young people.
Opened new children’s home in middle of pandemic

What have we done
• Opened a new children’s Home July 2020.
• Ofsted inspection July 2021. The home was rated Good with no requirements.
• Young people placed and making progress in all areas of their lives.
• Therapeutic ways of working have been utilised.
What is the impact
• Children are placed within Gateshead and can attend their local school and maintain friendships and family relationships.
• Young people are supported well by professionals in their lives.
• Young people feel safe and cared for.
• Staff are committed to achieving best possible outcomes and take their responsibility as corporate parents very seriously.
Positives highlighted in Ofsted report 2021
• A range of professionals commented on the high level of care and attention to detail the manager and the staff apply to
the care of the children, which supports the progress children make.
• The management team have aspirations for the children, which are evident in the work undertaken within the home.

30

• Staff work well with other professionals to achieve best outcomes for the young people and proactively take part in care
team meetings.
• Staff celebrate children’s achievements and as a result, children are excelling.
• Risk assessments and behaviour support plans are thorough, resulting in children feeling safe and secure within the home.
Established a Kinship Care Team
Kinship Care Team

Page 70

What have we done
• Gateshead Council have established a Kinship Care Team, as of June 2021 with a team of Social Workers and Family Advocates appointed throughout
the summer.
• We have a commissioning arrangement with Kinship (formerly Grandparents Plus) to assist us with responding to the needs of Kinship Carers and
now offering a host of independent services for Kinship Carers to access.
• We now deliver a bespoke service delivered solely to the needs of Kinship Carers and to children in Kinship placements.
• We have established links with the Kinship community and have developed the community network of Kinship Carers.
What is the impact
• Having a dedicated team to work with Kinship carers is improving outcomes for young people as they are living withing their own family networks and
communities with carers who have comprehensive and timely support. Whilst this can be challenging given the complex family dynamics, the team
are supporting kinship cares to understand behaviours, help them deal with daily challenges and adapt their parenting style in order to get the best
outcomes for the children and young people they are caring for
• All assessments for prospective Kinship Carers are completed by a Social Worker independent to the child’s Social Worker, this supports a more
robust assessment process now ensuring an additional Social Worker and Team Manager to the assessment process, assisting with critical reflection
and scrutiny to the care planning for the child.
• As all assessments for prospective Kinship Carers are completed within the one team this offers consistency in assessment outcomes, expectations
and supports to the carers etc.
• All those Kinship Carers considering a Special Guardian Order are offered the opportunity to attend a preparation course, delivered independently by
Kinship, supported by a presentation by a Local Authority representative.
• Kinship Carers at Gateshead are now able to access the same training programme offered to Foster Carers, this is to any Kinship Carer irrespective of
when their journey began.
• Children in Kinship Care placements are able to access the Blue Cabin Therapeutic Life Story work, the establishment of the Kinship Care Team
supports children to attend when the time is right for them, and they do not have to have an allocated Safeguarding Social Worker for this.
• We have listened and acted on the views of our Kinship community and re-established links between the Local Authority and our Kinship Carers.
• Support groups with attendance from a Local Authority representative take place twice per month. At half term additional activities take place to
include the children.
31

• An additional Focus Group takes place monthly, facilitated by the Local Authority to bring Kinship Carers together to discuss relevant topics – Family
Time, Life Story and share the experience within the room.
• Due to the recent surge in Covid cases our support groups have moved to walks, ensuring our links to Kinship Carers remain, helping to address
feelings of isolation and ensuring a creative response despite the demands of the pandemic.
• The network between the Local Authority is supported by regular email updates and posts via the Gateshead Kinship Carers Facebook page.
• Through our commissioning arrangement with Kinship we are able to reflect and continue to learn how best to meet the needs of our carers, with the
offer of project support on a 1:1 basis through Kinship Connected and telephone advice or guidance through Kinship Membership.
• With two dedicated Family Advocates, Kinship Carers and the children in their care are able to receive support, advice and guidance to assist with the
assessment process and to support placement stability.
• Family Advocates are able to provide support to Kinship Carers, irrespective of the child’s needs, allowing for emotional or practical support to be
offered if the Kinship Carers own needs require this, therefore the children do not have to be open to services.

Page 71

Feedback from Kinship;
It has been an honour to work collaboratively with such an approachable and forward-thinking team. The passion to improve services and support
special guardians and kinship carers is evident. The team has taken every opportunity to consult with kinship carers and our senior project worker to
ensure that support is provided in a manner which is inclusive and with families.
The team is always quick to respond to any queries and has gone over and above to ensure that kinship carers have been able to access digital devices
to attend the Kinship Ready workshops. A member of the team is always present throughout the workshops which has supported the building of
positive and sustainable relationships with families. Best Wishes, Ancha Stoodley – Regional Programmes Manager, Kinship
Feedback from an established Kinship Carer who joined a Focus Group;
I’ll defo be there thanks for info much appreciated felt like had a rant at the group.. but suppose everyone in the room was saying exactly the same or
more or less in same situation. Mark is coming out on Wednesday to me too I’m so grateful I’ve eventually found some support and people in the
same position as us. I’m usually not a moaning person just loads going on at moment & it’s feels massive that there is someone to help me or direct
me in the right direction.

8.2 Thematic Priorities
Voice of the child
As set out in our safeguarding plan re engagement ‘Partners will make use of the existing systems, groups and forums to gather the views of children and
families to encourage children to have their say, share their views and experiences, challenge and support local decision makers and shape and influence
strategic planning, commissioning and service provision.’ This is also an area subject to scrutiny (as set out in WT2018).
32

We sent out a survey to start mapping out participation of children and young people, across Gateshead. In this context, participation means children and
young people engaging in decision-making processes, not accessing a broader range of activities in the community.
Mapping out participation groups will hopefully help us to:
• consult with young people (including specific groups, when required), to influence review of the safeguarding plan and related activities.
• Develop outreach (engagement) strategy to ensure that those impacted most by safeguarding concerns are aware of their right to be safeguarded
and to play a part in developing initiatives to prevent, respond to and report about safeguarding threats.
• Explore opportunities for children and young people to lead or co-lead safeguarding initiatives; safeguarding training for adults and children; and
attending/giving input into relevant meetings, working groups, and subgroups.

Page 72

Gateshead Youth Assembly – Annual update
Like everyone else, from March 2020 Gateshead Youth Assembly went online. It was tricky at first but thanks to funding from the Port of Tyne Authority vis
the Tyne and Wear Community Foundation we were able to deliver our IMPACT course online instead of face to face which gave us an anchor for our
weekly Zoom sessions.
We managed to deliver personal development sessions and our annual Holocaust Memorial Sessions as well as weekly quizzes (with prizes!).
By the start November 2020 we had got to grips with running most things online and our recruitment saw ten brand new members which wasn’t bad
considering we couldn’t get into schools to recruit!
We had sessions with specialist officers around Hate Crime, Gateshead’s Covid response and HRH Earl of Wessex around how we have managed to keep
going with volunteering during lockdown. Our Co-Chairs represented all of Gateshead’s Young People at a virtual Remembrance Day service in November
2020.
As a couple of our members were in family bubbles with our support staff we were able to meet in our building and put together a range of packs over the
year including 100 period packs for asylum seeking girls and young women, 200 back to school stationary packs, Easter Eggs, 60 culturally appropriate food
bags for both Eid, and selection boxes at Christmas, we think we filled over 700 bags for life between April 2020 and Sept 2021 this equates to over £3000
of goods, all fundraised by GYA members.
February 2021 saw us start to publish our weekly Happiness Bulletin which was aimed at anyone needing a smile. It was written by young people but not
aimed at young people, we pinched the idea from a group of students at Newcastle College who launched something similar, to cheer their lecturers up –
we are more than happy to pass on the credit. We stopped doing the bulletins when we went back to school but restarted as a monthly bulletin in
December 2021.

33

We got back to careful, socially distanced in person sessions during Summer 2021 and we can tell you – we needed it! Online is better than nothing but it’s
not the same. Our first few sessions were just chat and getting back in touch and getting to know the new young people who had spent almost a year on
GYA without actually meeting anyone!
We managed to have a residential! Really! 15 of us went to Minsteracres and spent three days having fun, planning our next year, finishing off projects and
working with Tor from Northumbria Police on a session to be delivered to a group of lads who thought it was OK to sexually shame women walking past
them!

Page 73

Police
It is essential that the first response police officers not only identify risk, but they take time to talk to children at any incident they attend. It is important
that officers speak to the child/children to gain an understanding of how the incident has affected them, to obtain their thoughts and feelings and to obtain
a view of their home life situation. The purpose of this is to notify both partner agencies and specialists within protecting vulnerable people of the risk
identified and the 'voice of the child' in order that appropriate action can be instigated. This is done by completing a Child Concern Notification, which is
then risk assessed by the MASH, and securely emailed to the relevant Children's Services.
Northumbria Police continue to promote in force our “Through the Eyes of a child” campaign as part of our frontline response to domestic abuse incidents.
A force definition of Child to Parent Violence and Abuse (CPVA) has been produced and agreed by all LA areas and we are in the process of signing off our
internal procedures and developing training for front line officers in relation to their response to CPVA.
Gateshead Council
Child and family views are routinely captured. Wishes and feelings of children are used to inform plans for their future. Impact - more families work with us
collaboratively and receive support that is effective. New case management system, MOSAIC, ensures voice of the child is always explicit in the work.
A variety of imaginative ways to
engage with child used by workers
which results in us building
trusting meaningful relationships.

Following systemic practice
training, use of genograms, as an
intervention, is widely embedded
across the workforce.

34

Voice of the Child Audit: Looked After Children’s Six Month Reviews
32 children’s cases randomly selected
Key Points Examined
•The method of participation
•Were the child's views recorded and reflected
•Has the social worker acted on
recommendations
•The child's views of the review
•The recording of the review

Page 74

Key findings

Recommendations

•We don’t always ask the basics (where should
meeting be, who should be there etc)
•More recordings are being written to the child
directly
•Consultation documents are rarely used and
when they are, unsure where they are they
being saved.
•Following the process already in place, ensures
child's views are actioned and followed up in
most recent care/pathway plans.
•More IRO’s are visiting/speaking to children
before review. Including use of facetime and
email.

•Understand the barriers to attendance and
what impact Covid 19 as had on participation.
•Go back to basics! Where, when, who, etc?
•Ensure review recommendations include what
the child wants to happen, being explicit, so
that this is followed up in care plan.
•Review of Consultation Document and Process.
•Further roll out of writing all plans and reviews
to the child.
•Work with One Voice about the use of our
Language.
•Continued use of video calls and other
communication methods post covid.

A summary of findings were discussed at the GSCP meeting along with an update of progress against the recommendations. Partners have seen a number
of examples of reviews and plans, letters etc being written to the child, and commended the IRO team for this. Feedback from children and young people
has been very positive and has led to better engagement. Social Workers are also doing this now (for reports etc) and are really committed to moving
towards a narrative model for communicating with children.
There is a task and finish group looking at how to incorporate narrative practice approaches across the whole service. The GSCP Business Manager is part
of the group, with a view to this being rolled out across the partnership.
Young ambassadors
The use of LAC and Care Leaver ambassadors is increasingly seen as good practice and adds value to already established processes by embedding the voice
of the child into them, through direct involvement in key service activity.
The council has recently employed three Young Ambassadors who will each work six hours per week. They will act as role models for young people and be
ambassadors for children in care and care leavers in various meetings and forums. They will also support and promote the Children in Care Council and
support children and young people in care across the region to promote involvement.
The plan is for the ambassadors to be assigned to a workstream of the Corporate Parenting Partnership, to work with the chair and working group to
ensure that young people are involved in quality assuring everything we do, whilst ensuring that children and young people’s views are heard.
35

The workstreams are:

Health

Accommodation
and Placements

Arts, Leisure and
Activities

Participation

Education,
Training and
Employment

Care Leavers

The ambassadors will also be linked to a group of the council and have a responsibility to guide that group and its Strategic Director in their corporate
parenting responsibilities.

Page 75

Gateshead Council - SEND Service
SEND Service has proactively and conscientiously developed direct practice and recording methods towards capturing and recording the voice of the child.
This has included:
Person Centred planning training with the National Development Team for Inclusion (NDTi) and ‘Developing Outcomes using the Support
Sequence”.
Learner view forms are an integral part of all EHCP reviews processes.
SENDCO training and SENDCO network consistently emphasises the principles of person-centred planning and being led and focussed upon person
centred outcomes.
Delivering Person Centred reviews for post 16 learners to better plan and deliver their transition into employment, independently living, being part
of their community and being healthy.
Completing a participation audit and action planning the strengthening for areas requiring improvement.
Co-production and launch of a ‘SEND Participation’ strategy is a commitment for 2022.
Formation and development of a SEND Youth Forum – with accessible minutes available.
Relaunch parent / carer forum (SEND)

What have we done?
• Worked with Contact to revamp PCF and also to increase funding and budget to hire admin support for PCF.
• Held ballots to elect new Chairperson and Vice Chair/ Co chairs and carried out recruitment drive for members.
• Implemented PCF website and Facebook page, monthly PCF meetings with SEND key lead to create action plan/ monitor actions and monthly PCF
meetings with practitioners from Education, Health and Social Care to answer key questions raised by parents via the Forum.
• PCF now represented across council strategy groups (SEND Strategy Board, subgroups across Health, Social Care and Education).
• Held 2 Family Fun Days to increase recruitment and awareness. Set up training and development plan for PCF 2021-2022.

36

What is the impact?
• Increased reach across the borough and ability to respond to enquiries, formulated roles within the PCF and defined responsibilities.
• Increased parental voice, overall reach across the borough and capacity to fulfil roles and take part in meetings at every level.
• Increased reach across the borough and provided alternative methods for parents to communicate and raise any enquiries.
• A joint approach to training, development and identifying actions- feeds directly into strategy.
• Created a direct communication link and joint approach to improve services for all. Provides a quick response to any emerging enquiries. Built on
positive relationships.
• Further improved co production and joint working at every level of the organisation.
• Increased PCF membership and awareness of PCF work.
• Improved understanding of SEND for all parents within Gateshead.
• Increased confidence for Parent representatives and increased membership due to investment.

Page 76

FLARE (young people’s advisory group supported by the
Council for Disabled Children) are a group of 13 - 25
year olds from across England.
With virtual engagement increasing to reflect the needs
and development of participation, FLARE have created
their top tips for professionals who are communicating
online with children and young people:

37

Digital Skills Group’s experience of lockdown..
Gateshead Council’s SEND Involvement Worker worked with a group of young people from the Dryden Centre’s Digital Skills group to try and capture their
views and experiences of lockdown. The group talked about their experiences of the COVID pandemic and lockdown. Their feedback was turned into two
pieces of Word Art – one a representation of positive experiences, one a negative representation.

What was difficult during lockdown?

Things that have helped make you happy

Page 77
Doing work at home I enjoy working at college more
Not seeing my friends because I’m working at home
Not being able to go to the shops
Not sitting next to each other in class
Wearing face coverings
Not seeing family
Not going to people’s house
Feel frightened to cuddle your family when you are upset
Not being able to go to the cinema
38

Doing art / colouring in
Coming into college
Song writing / Watching TV / Listening to music / Watching
films
Internet shopping
Taking the dog for a walk / My pets make me happy!
Performing arts – singing, dancing, acting, drama
Watching Boris for good news!
Youth club online
Chocolate!
Helping mam with housework

Direct work with children in care and care leavers
Social workers and personal advisers have good relationships with children in care and care leavers. Good contact maintained over the course of the Covid19 pandemic, increased visiting and contact frequency based on assessed levels of need or risk. Face-to-face contact has been maintained throughout.
Statutory performance data, published weekly to managers and senior managers for oversight, confirms the majority of children are visited within statutory
timescales. Monthly data provided to the Department for Education 3, confirms contact with young people has been regular throughout.
Voice of child – in assessments, plans and reviews
Embedded Gateshead CAN model.
Introduced Therapeutic Life Story Work.
Implemented new management information system, MOSAIC ensures voice of child at centre of recording practice.
Therapeutic Life Story work

Page 78

What have we done?
• Starting in January 2021 we launched the Blue Cabin life story work model. This is a collaboration to ensure that Gateshead deliver consistent high
quality life story work to all the children and young people in our care. This has also involved two other partnering local authorities South Tyneside
and Darlington.
• The project has included staff training and access to an online training and resource platform and most excitingly of all creative life story work
experiences for children, young people and their carers facilitated by highly skilled therapeutic artists.
• The training topics covered have include work around attachment, trauma, recovery and what creative life story means in practice. in total 147
sessions have been attended by staff. In addition to this training, 127 staff have accessed the online resource and training platform to learn more
about creative life story work and to get ideas about how to do this in practice with children, young people, and their carers.
• 23 children involved with carers in creative experience sessions to date.
- sessions group based, consist of 6 sessions, online or face to face. This is the first time that any of these sessions have been delivered online and
this has been an eye-opening journey. It has given us some great ideas about how we can embed this practice between the three local authorities
involved and this will form part of the focus on the next steps when the project concludes in March 2022.
- trained 4 staff in the therapeutic life story work diploma and have another member of staff undertaking this training this year. These staff will be
used to ensure that we can have a sustainable training model and they will also be able to offer more intensive sessions for children and young
people who may require 1-1 therapeutic support around their understanding of their life story.
• The aim of the project is to support local authorities in having a better understanding on a model for the consistent delivery of high quality,
meaningful life story work for children and young people in their care. The aim following the ending of this What Works Children's Social Care project
is that we have a sustainable model that we can use within Gateshead but that also involves our partners Blue Cabin (Not for Profit Organisation
delivering the online training and creative experiences) as well as South Tyneside and Darlington local authorities.

3

Department for Education Vulnerable children and young people survey

39

Page 79

• This project has had a profound impact on practice within Gateshead. Especially in relation to the consideration of the language we use and the way
in which we write and create assessments, plans and case records for our children, young people, and families. As a result, we are also delivering
training to all social work staff around the use of narrative approaches to practice and the aim is that all assessments and plans are written in this way
by October 2022.
• The training project and materials have been shared with Professor Richard Rose who has been completing the training related to his model of life
story work. Professor Richard Rose is also providing critical friend support around the implementation of these changes in practice and his feedback
has been very complimentary and helpful.
What is the impact?
• Staff are more confident in completing life story work and by the end of the project we will have evidence about the way life story work is undertaken
with children and young people.
• This will give us an organisational framework and best practice guidance for staff that will ensure that all children and young people in our care are
supported to explore and understand issues around their life story, their identity and sense of self.
• Children, young people, and their carers have the space, support, and time to explore these issues together which in turn enhances their existing
relationships and helps to secure and maintain children and young people in their foster homes.
These are some anonymised quotes from children and young people who have undertaken the creative experiences.
“Thank you, this has been great and so much fun. I loved being in a small group, so everyone got a chance to speak and share their opinions.”
“I enjoyed the sessions very much and loved being able to express my thoughts and ideas to the rest of the group.”
“I have enjoyed every second of it… I know now know I can learn from making mistakes.”
The following are some anonymised quotes from carers who have been involved in the sessions.
“Firstly, can I say how much we have enjoyed being part of the AAM project… Each session gave me and ‘YP’ some focused 1-1 time which was so
valuable. No negatives from me and would recommend to all other carers.”
“My ‘YP’ felt safe enough to share her emotions and experiences which is something she doesn’t always like to do. It provoked little chats
between us around things my YP can change for the better and it’s helped her not to dwell on the negatives form her past so much… Would like
to pass on my thanks, this was a great experience.”
“Firstly, I was apprehensive about the sessions as my YP has had abuse and loss in his past… I was reassured by Therapeutic SW that safeguards
were in place and soon found sessions were relaxed and fun. In therapeutic terms we found that sessions helped us do things together like
speaking about and recognising feelings and being able to put these into words… YP was initially anxious about speaking with others in the
group, but we have reflected since and he is definitely more confident as a result.”
“Sessions have definitely helped the girls talk about their feelings.”

40

• The impact of this project will continue to be measured through specific auditing of life story work on children's case files, discussions with children
and young people and our children rights group. We will also monitor this through our data looking specifically at the impact on placement stability
for our children and young people.
Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
Each child that is referred to CNTW has an assessment process, and within that we have individualised care plans, where we ask and learn from the child
what helps for them. As a part of this as the child improves, we look at creating a WRAP plan, which looks at what keeps them well, and then moving into a
moving on care plan. All capturing the voice of the child and what they would like to see as a good outcome.
Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service
TWFRS have initiated plans to ensure each young person that we engage with on our Juvenile Firesetters Education Programme has the opportunity to
speak to staff without parents being in the room. This has often happened dynamically but will become standard practice in 2022.

Page 80

CCG – Children, Young People and Families Service
An engagement working group which brings together the CCG, Local Authority and wider health colleagues has been established to support joint
working when reviewing services and listening to young people.
A newsletter, outlining the work of the Gateshead System, is now sent out quarterly.
A new SEND newsletter (which aims to provide valuable information around the SEND services that are available) is sent out to parent/carers each
term.
Mentimeter
During covid and the impact of non-face to face working, it was noticeable that we needed to communicate with children, young people, parent/carers and
professionals in a virtual way, which is where we discovered Mentimeter.
Mentimeter is an engagement tool which allows users to use live polls, Q&As and open responses to support engagement and interaction through-out
meetings, events, training, and workshops gaining fast responses from the audience.
The application also links into MS Teams, Zoom and other video conferencing platforms.
After the session has finished, you are able to download all responses straight to Excel, which is great for evaluation questions.
We have 20 licenses in the CCG.
Case study – Becky (not real name)
Becky had been in the care system for 4 years and (as is routine for children in Gateshead who are leaving care) she was given an opportunity to sit with a
Nurse from the Looked After Children’s team to go through her health history. It was apparent that Becky had attended the unscheduled settings at Queen
Elizabeth Hospital on 38 occasions in a relatively short space of time. Becky told the Nurse that many of those attendances were related to the physical
abuse she experienced prior to coming into care.
41

Although there was evidence of good practice in relation to safeguarding, Becky was asked what we could have done better here at QEH.
Becky told us that she was not offered an opportunity to be seen alone. She said that she was scared at home and was fearful about speaking up about the
violence she experienced on an almost daily basis. Becky also said she might not have told staff because of that fear but reflected that if she had been seen
alone and made to feel safe she may well have told someone and been safe from harm sooner.
Since then, Becky has spoken about her experiences at the safeguarding committee, attended a safe care meeting and has also worked with the team
including staff from Paediatrics and the unscheduled settings to look at how we give children an opportunity to be heard.
Becky has helped the team to look at the safeguarding children policy and to improve how we listen to young people. She is a remarkable 18-year-old who
in her words ‘just does not want anyone else’s story to be like hers’. Becky also said we need to keep it simple! Where it is appropriate to, see young
people alone and ask. Do you feel safe? and Are you safe at home?

Page 81

Mental health and emotional wellbeing
Police
Northumbria Police have an all-age Street Triage Service which is open to Children across region. The CNTW nurses and police officers who work on the
service deploy to incidents of children in mental health crisis and have continued to provide a face to face service throughout the COVID pandemic. In the
last 12 months our Street Triage officers have undertaken training in ACE’s, learning disabilities and child exploitation to ensure they have a more holistic
understanding of children’s presenting behaviours.
The Street Triage service also ensure they are sighted on the impact of parental mental ill health on children and young people’s mental health and make
safeguarding referrals for children impacted by a parent or carers mental health crisis.
Kooth has been promoted within Central area command for front line officers in Response Policing and Neighbourhood Teams to use as a signposting tool
for young people with mental health concerns.
In February 2021 Northumbria Police supported Children’s mental health week, incorporating learning from National JTAI inspections.
Internally we publicised the role of our Criminal Justice Liaison and Diversion Nurses in Custody who can support children who are suspected of an offence
with their mental health. We also raised the importance of seeing an incident through the eyes of a child and ensuring that our officers focussed on Mental
Health triage and interventions for Children rather than taking a Criminal Justice approach. Externally we put out the following media messages
demonstrating to the public our support for Children’s Mental Health.

42

Northumbria Police supporting Children's Mental Health Week
Struggling children whose poor mental health has pushed them towards self-harm and substance abuse have been promised support by police.
Northumbria Police have pledged their support and said they use early intervention and education to help children and young people understand police
and other professionals are there to support them in times of need. Detective Chief Inspector Lynne Colledge is leading the Force's activity for Children's
Mental Health Week and says it’s important children don't fear police but instead see them as a place to turn in a time of need. Comments from DCI Lynne
Colledge and interview with Metro Radio.
This post had reached 32,303 people and received 1,334 engagements on our Facebook page
https://www.facebook.com/northumbriapolice/posts/10158025283446309

Page 82

Schools packages to help teachers in lockdown with children's mental health
We shared that online education packages for schools to help children and young people are being introduced by Northumbria Police in support of
Children's Mental Health Week. Dedicated schools liaison officers have developed online packages for schools to access during lockdown which address
matters such as self-esteem, forming healthy relationship, harm and exploitation. Everyday police officers are dealing with those in crisis and they want to
focus on children and young people as well as adults. Community Advisor Nichola Bone who has been creating the packages features in the article.
This post had reached 39,452 people and received 628 engagements on our Facebook page.
https://www.facebook.com/26145041308/posts/10158041773756309/?d=n
Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust
CNTW’s core business is mental health care and treatment, but to obtain the best outcome for the child, we consider the wellbeing of the family as a
system. A think family approach, and the impact that mental ill health has upon the family as a system.
CYP Consultations for cared for children have continued throughout; 37 consultations for Gateshead children. Advice and recommendations were provided
in all consultation sessions with resources being sent via email and summary letters being supplied. Once again only a minority required signposting or
onward referral.
Feedback is now collected from professionals referring into this process and although a small response, most feedback is positive. All felt it was easy to
arrange and useful to have this opportunity for in depth discussion. 75-83% felt it provided something different, was helpful to identify concerns,
understand the impact of past experiences, clarified intervention to use and helped a specific aspect of the child's care plan. 67% found it was a timely
response although there were comments about difficulty in accessing in a crisis. 92% felt consultations online were convenient.
Case study - CNTW
Young person with significant mental health needs who has previously required admission to a secure children’s home and two admissions to a mental
health inpatient service under the mental health act. In spite of consistent efforts to find an appropriate placement by the local authority, there have not
43

been any private providers who have been willing to accommodate this young person prior to her placement in local authority care. This has unfortunately
resulted in instability in her care, which have exacerbated her mental health difficulties.
Although this young person continues to present with significant additional needs, they are currently receiving a better standard of care than any of the
providers prior to this. The manager of the local authority care home worked closely with mental health inpatient services to achieve a safe, well-planned
transition into the care home, taking into account advice around risk management from clinical services at all times. The care of this young person has
required all agencies, including the police, acute health services, and mental health services to work closely together in partnership support this young
person’s safety.

Page 83

Two practitioners with clinical expertise in trauma and mental health have now been recruited to work into the local authority residential care homes and
will start in post in January 2022. The role of the Principal Clinical Psychologist and Advanced Practitioner will be to embed trauma-informed care within
these environments, and provide training, assessment, formulation and signposting to appropriate services.
The practitioners will apply the six principles of the NHS England Framework for Integrated Care listed below:

Every Interaction Matters:
There is a focus first on
building and supporting
positive collaborative
relationships.

Children and Young People
and the relationships they
experience are at the centre
of al care they receive
through genuine coproduction.

Those spending most time
with young people are the
primary facilitators of change.

Positively influencing the dayto-day care is the basis of any
intervention and primary
focus of support.

All behaviour is
understandable in context;
there is a focus on developing
an understanding of each
CYP’s behaviour and needs
based on their story.

There is a commitment by all
to build and sustain traumainformed organisations.

The practitioners will also be responsible for creating a robust plan for data collection to demonstrate the positive outcomes of the service.
0-19 Service
Lockdowns resulted in an increase in parent and family stressors. There were increased pressures on families as a result of disrupted routines and
behaviors; overcrowding; isolation from family support networks and financial pressures. Tensions in family relationships resulted in an escalation of
domestic violence (Safeguarding Children during COVID-19, 2020). It is likely that these findings are a key contributor to the volume of cases requiring
Integrated Response Team (IRT) assessment.
44

In response to the amount of time allocated to administration in the IRT, the implementation of a new process aimed at reducing the pressure and
administration tasks of the SNCP and ensuring appropriate time and resource to the wider role within IRT was undertaken. This was implemented in March
2021 and will be evaluated in 2022.
Clinical Commissioning Group - Children Young People and Families Team
Work with schools - A few years ago the Year 9 GP assemblies programme was initiated to support the Sick & Injured Child pathway. The assemblies are to
educate our young people about the local services a GP offers to help ensure they are mentally, emotionally and physically healthy. Also, to improve their
knowledge on access to GPs as well as any confidentiality issues. Previously this has involved a GP attending a school assembly and delivering a short
presentation to Year 9 pupils, offering the chance for Q&As – usually the assembly was no longer than 15 minutes. Obviously, due to Covid, during the last
academic year we were unable to attend schools in person, so we delivered a presentation to some schools in Gateshead virtually. The presentation has
now been updated to include changes in General Practice due to covid and this year we are presenting in collaboration with the North-East Engagement
Lead from Kooth.

Page 84

Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service
TWFRS continued to engage with young people across Gateshead, and adapted its projects to reach young people in lockdown and beyond. This continued
support included regular signposting to support services, including Kooth.
The Fire Cadet Friday Film Club was initiated early on and allowed young people to select a film available on streaming services and then watch it
simultaneously with other Fire Cadets, chatting with other Cadets via social media.
We eventually moved to Virtual Fire Cadets in January 2021, offering sessions on firefighting, teamwork, personal development, enrichment and wellbeing.
The virtual scavenger hunt around a fire station in Duxbury, Massachusetts was a huge success, which was then shared with fire and rescue services across
the country.

We adapted our 12-week Prince’s Trust Team Programme into a four-week online course, offering young people the opportunity to improve their
teamwork, communication and employability skills. In September 2021, we relaunched our face-to-face teaching at fire stations and delivered the full 12week programme once again, transporting young people from Gateshead to Sunderland to ensure they could engage with the programme and barriers to
attendance were removed.
“During the initial online course, I didn’t have much hope or care for it, it was just something to do while I looked for work. But after the first week or two I
actually started to enjoy it and come out of my shell. The staff were really chill and managed to keep the work engaging and the group were all lovely and
fun people to work with. Some of which I even keep in contact with to this day. When I heard the course was starting again in person, I was a lot more
eager, as I had mainly been excited for the physical activities.
45

As someone who struggles with their mental health, the course helped give me something to look forward to, plus it finally got me away from the house.
And when I started to struggle the Team made sure I was safe and let me know I could confide in them if I ever needed.”
We were very keen to join participate in the Summer Family Fun Event in Birtley in August 2021. Youth Engagement staff and Operational Firefighters
designed a programme on fire safety and firefighting activities.
TWFRS: Case Study – A.
A joined our first online course in February 2021. They had felt isolated during lockdown and did not feel comfortable turning their camera on for any
group sessions for the duration for the four weeks. They completed the course, and when we resumed our face-to-face programme they were keen to join.

Page 85

During the 12-week course A helped plant trees in Southwick, completed a work experience placement with Tyne and Wear Fire and Rescue Service and
took part in outdoor team building activities. In the last week of the course they performed a speech in front of over 50 people in person and online,
including the Mayor of Sunderland and Deputy Chief Fire Officer Peter Heath, at the Prince’s Trust Final Presentation.
They are now enrolled on the Level 2 Security & Events Professional Traineeships with the NGTC Group, an opportunity they were signposted to by staff on
the course.
Clinical Commissioning Group - Children Young People and Families Team
Little Orange Book
The Little Orange Book was developed by CCG as a tool for parent/carers to manage their children’s minor illnesses and for
health care professionals in their ability to support them in this. The book is focused on acute illness in young children and
helps parents and carers to recognise and then respond appropriately to a range of diseases, illness and conditions as well as
signposting parents to the most appropriate service or clinician should they need further support.
The book has been in circulation for a number of years and parents/carers/schools and health professionals trust the
publication and use the information provided.

“It can give advice before a
problem arises and enables
parents and carers to recognise
when it’s appropriate to access
medical support”

“A handy tool that arms
parents and carers with
information to help keep
their kids well and prevent
unnecessary trips to the GP
or hospital.”

The Little Orange Book has now been updated; the new edition provides up-to-date health advice and has new sections
including one on Covid-19. It covers everything from common minor ailments like teething, constipation and colds, through
to more serious conditions like measles and meningitis. The booklet uses a traffic light system to help parents and carers
decide what action to take when their child is sick.

46

The updated book was distributed to primary care, social care, schools, nurseries, Paeds, Maternity, 0-19 service, A&E and some VCS organisations. In
previous years, pharmacies across Gateshead have only been supplied with reference copies but due to high demand this year we have been able to
offer them a stock to give out to support their patients.
To celebrate the relaunch, staff at two local practices – The Bridges in Gateshead, and Throckley Primary
Care in Newcastle – went orange for the day, donning orange t-shirts and accessories and decorating their
surgeries.
GP at The Bridges Medical Practice said: “The Little Orange Book is regularly used by parents and carers
from our practice. We wanted to make sure all our patients knew about the new little orange book by
celebrating the launch in our surgery. All our staff have participated by dressing up in orange and
decorating the surgery. After all it is the bright orange cover that makes the book stand out and easy to
reach for when parents need advice.”

Page 86

“provides invaluable information
and is something all parents, carers
and adults who work with children
should have a copy of.”

This book was produced by Newcastle Gateshead CCG with help from GPs, health visitors, practice managers and
staff, pharmacists, paediatricians and children’s nurses, as well as parents and carers. Parents and carers can pick up
their own copy of the Little Orange Book from GP surgeries, children’s centres or midwives, or download a copy.

Teenage Resource
Big Orange Book
The CYPF Team are working to develop a Teenage Resource, based on the principles of The Little Orange Book (but for teenagers).
This builds upon the Year 9 assemblies programme of work as part of the Sick and Injured Child pathway to educate our young people around the local
services a GP offers to help ensure they are mentally, emotionally and physically robust and healthy. This project is to improve their knowledge on access
to GPs as well as issues such as confidentiality. It is felt that after a GP has attended a Year 9 assembly, it is key to leave the young people with further
support tools.
The CYPF Team led an engagement exercise to find out the views of children and young people aged 11-25, parent/carers and professionals across
Gateshead in the form of three electronic surveys (young people, parent/carers and professionals) and virtual group sessions with young people using the
online engagement tool Menti. A total of 242 responses were received between young people, professionals and parent carers.
Task and finish work is now in progress and the development of the teenage resource is well underway. We will continue to engage with young people
throughout the process to ensure the development of the resource is driven by them. In addition, we have been successful in a funding bid from NHSE to
support development of a SEND easy read version of the resource.
47

Youth Justice Service (YJS)
The Youth Justice Service have established good working relationships with Clinical Commissioning Group. There is potential for joint working in relation to
using young people within the criminal justice system to help develop the child centred resource specifically for older young people (Big Orange Book) to
enable young people to become aware of health services which are available locally and what support they are able to access. The CCG is developing
transitions from 14 years old, to make sure that young people have the relevant diagnosis to support them getting the right service moving forward. It is
also recognised that digital resources need to be developed for young people to be able to access, notwithstanding some of our young people live in digital
poverty.

Child exploitation and children who go missing

Page 87

Tackling Child Exploitation (TCE) Support Programme - Northumbria Regional Partnership Bespoke Support Project
Partners across the Northumbria region applied to the TCE programme for support in a) looking at how child exploitation and extra-familial harm is
understood across the region and b) exploring how data could best be used to underpin and develop a regional strategic approach to tackling child
exploitation and extra-familial harm. This commenced in April 2020; Gateshead took the lead for coordinating across the regional partnership.
Partners initially identified a long term goal for the project of developing a data collection framework that would support and inform a regional child
exploitation strategy. Interestingly, this evolved over the course of working with TCE and ended instead with a plan to utilise existing data more effectively.
This report sets out this journey.
Police
A priority focus is to address all aspects of missing and exploitation. Over the past year Northumbria Police has worked closely with local authority partners
at a Strategic and Operational Level in order to provide the best possible response to Missing Children in Gateshead. This has resulted in closer working
practices with the Northumbria Police Missing from Home Coordinator developing strong links with social workers and care provisions. We have also
supported the local authority to refresh and update the Missing Children procedures and are leading on this work for the region. Closer links with Youth
justice teams and improved knowledge and awareness in respect of criminal exploitation cases have helped to strengthen practice around this emerging
threat.
The MSET risk assessment framework has been updated in the past 12 months to ensure a focus on children who are being criminally exploited and
involved in gangs and County Lines activity. In the past year police have worked with children’s social care to educate and support front line safeguarding
staff to understand signs of exploitation and make appropriate referrals.

48

During lockdown our schools team recognised that their engagement with young people in Gateshead would change and we worked with our IT leads to
develop an online school’s webpage where we placed our safeguarding education packages for schools to access. We also developed and distributed a
school’s termly newsletter which included a parents and carers leaflet to raise County Lines and Criminal Exploitation awareness.
MSET (Missing, Slavery, Exploited and Trafficked)
Northumbria Police have led on the review of the multi-agency exploitation Hub and have the commitment of all six local authorities and CCGs to work
together to provide a multi-agency response to children and young people at risk of sexual, criminal exploitation and all aspects of Modern Slavery.
Northumbria Police has provided dedication and commitment to MSET (Slavery Missing Exploitation, Trafficking) sub group. MSET is a multi-agency
partnership group which operates at an Operational and Strategic Level within Gateshead.
Both groups are chaired by a Detective Inspector and Detective Chief Inspector and help to safeguard children and young people at risk of Slavery, Missing
and Exploitation as well as considering preventative, multi-agency approaches to reduce vulnerability and tackle and disrupt perpetrators who offend
against those vulnerable children and young people

Page 88

Operational MSET
The Operational Group sits under the Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and considers high and medium risk cases of children who are believed to be at
risk of Missing, Slavery or Exploitation or are being Trafficked.
The Operational Group meets monthly and for each case on the agenda a multi-agency Safeguarding and disruption plan is formulated
The Operational Group also considers intelligence from across the partnership in order to identify any locations or perpetrators of concern linked to
Missing and Exploitation. The group does not replace existing child protection procedures but works to reduce risk for those cases which require a multiagency contextual safeguarding approach to reduce harm.
From April 2020 to September 2021 there have been 76 cases brought to Pre MSET for consideration with 14 cases progressing to Operational MSET panel.
Only one case has featured on the MSET panel on more than one occasion.
Work has been undertaken within the Safeguarding Children Partnership in 2021 to increase the awareness and identification of exploitation within Early
Help Services. This has led to a reduction in cases being presented to Pre MSET as risks are being identified and discussed at an early stage within front
door services.

49

Case study: A vulnerable young female originally from another local authority was released from Secure Unit and placed into unregulated supported
accommodation ran by an independent provider. There was a Section 31 full care order in place and she was at high risk of CSE.
The young female was placed in an unregulated placement with support staff in December 2020; however, Gateshead local authority and the police were
not informed of the placement at the time. Police were made aware when she was reported missing by staff and reported to have been kidnapped and
trafficked to the midlands.
Between December 2020 and May 2021 there were 18 missing from home reports involving this female, whereby she had befriended unknown males and
was staying regularly at their home addresses.

Page 89

Continuous liaison between Northumbria police, the care provider, Gateshead and other area’s children’s social care and outside police forces was
required in order to safeguard this young vulnerable female.
The young female was heard at Gateshead MSET to ensure all agencies were aware of her and she was offered as much safeguarding support as possible.
Due to close multi-agency working, including daily meetings she eventually started to open up to professionals and engage in offers of support.
From May 2021 there were no further missing reports after she started working with professionals regularly and as a result of this work with partner
agencies, as of September 2021 she is now residing in her own independent accommodation.
MSET roadshows are planned to take place April 2022 to increase front line practitioner’s awareness of the Operational MSET processes and to support
recognition of exploitation within front line practice.
Strategic MSET – Joint Exploitation
Strategic MSET (JSEG) is a joint group of the adults and children’s safeguarding partnership. The Strategic JSEG meets on a quarterly basis and has strong
representation from both partnerships. The Police chair of the Strategic Group is a consistent chair across the Northumbria Police Force footprint (6 LA
areas) which promotes sharing of learning and best practice and connectivity across the region in identifying emerging trends or concerns.

On the JSEG workplan, the following pieces of work have been undertaken:
Review of the MSET paperwork. To ensure a consistent approach to risk assessment across the region and ensure criminal exploitation risk factors
were incorporated in the framework.
Missing Adult Protocol- Development and roll out of a Multi-agency Missing adult protocol.
Victim Hub Implementation. The Multi-agency Exploitation hub was launched in November 2021.
Regional Missing Children Protocol. Gateshead CSP have refreshed their Missing children’s procedures and are now leading on the development of a
Regional Missing Children Protocol.
50

Some of the areas which have been discussed within the JSEG over have been:
Increased numbers of children coming to MSET panel with undiagnosed speech and language/cognitive functioning difficulties.
Increased numbers of cases involving teenage boys who are believed to being criminally exploited into drug supply/ localised County Lines activity
An increase in Online Exploitation (Northumbria Police report rises of 40% in referrals). This is felt to be attributed to children being in lockdown and
spending increasing amounts of time online.
FASD input to understand (Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder) the vulnerability to exploitation of this cohort of children who are often undiagnosed
until later in life.
Update on the work of the Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) and their preventative education workstreams
The Children’s Society Prevention Programme Presentation.
Regional County Lines Coordinator update.
Transitional Safeguarding and a vulnerability not age approach to safeguarding exploited victims.
Tricky Friends Animation. An online video to support those with learning disabilities to recognise harmful/exploitative friendships.
Presentation on Changing Lives Sexual Exploitation toolkit.

Page 90

Both Operational and Strategic MSET continue to have strong partnership commitment and effective working practices to help support the safety of
children and young people in the Gateshead area.
Child Criminal Exploitation - Operation Victus
Operation Victus is a multi-disciplinary group set up as part of the VVECG (violence, vulnerability, exploitation and co-ordination group) with the
purpose of early identification and prevention of criminal exploitation of children and vulnerable adults.
Through intelligence sharing, data analysis and collaborative working Op Victus seeks to identify those most vulnerable to exploitation – with key
partners involved there is consideration to the safeguarding/support in place. This includes early intervention to diversionary programmes such as
YOLO, EDGE NE and SideStep.
Op Victus co-ordinates the policing activity to deter and pursue these high harm offenders; in cases where significant criminal capability is evidenced
it will be escalated to Op Sentinel process.
Op Sentinel manages the response to mapped criminality and serious organised crime. In addition to the operational responses there are thematic
multiagency groups running; the central drugs alliance sets out to build an intelligence profile and share information on drug supply at both regional
and local levels.
Key partners have instigated intelligence sharing protocols and meet regularly to identify hotspots, share disruption activities and identify key
messages to be share when incident trends are identified. The priorities moving forward are to fully embed the central drugs alliance and other
collaborative partner meetings, maximise access and use of information/intelligence held by all partners and develop a whole system approach to
problem solving in order to further reduce silo working.

51

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust – Safeguarding Team
Due to the national and local increase in county lines and knife crime the Children’s safeguarding team linked up with Northumbria Harm Reduction Unit
and Edge North East and a package of knife crime awareness and county lines training has been rolled out for GHNFT staff.
The feedback from staff after the first session we delivered was fantastic. This motivated us as a team to look at ways of securing funding to roll out
further training days. The training from Northumbria Harm Reduction Unit and Edge North East as been very well received and all the courses have been
oversubscribed too, despite staff facing the pressures of Covid 19.
Children who go missing

Page 91

Missing protocol
We recently updated our procedures regarding children missing from home and care (Appendix 5); including responding to missing occurrences using
‘levels of intervention’ model. Discussions have taken place regionally to consider our updated local protocol being adopted as the regional protocol and if
this could then replace the current procedure (which is due a refresh and covers the same information); Gateshead are leading on this development.
Return home support worker

Gateshead Council: What have we done
• Following the appointment of a dedicated Return Home Support Worker (RHSW) this has improved and supported effective engagement with Young
people who have gone missing.
• A weekly report provides data on the individual young people’s missing episodes. The data report shows number of missing episodes, frequency, and
duration of missing episode/s. From this the RHSW is able to plan and prioritise the young people (YP) for interview.
• Engagement is positive with different methods of linking with the young people being used e.g. Telephone calls, text, Face two Face home visits and
outings to local community venues and eateries. Over the period the RHSW has been in post she has been able to tailor what works best for the
young person in order to achieve the successful Return Home Interview. A client lead approach has been key to engagement.
• Reflective team meetings support and guides the RHSW, including case discussions, sharing of experiences. Challenges are also discussed and worked
through.
• An action plan identifies priority contacts to the most vulnerable YP grading Red – Amber – Green. The RHSW uses this as a tool and keeps it updated,
this is used at Specialist Support senior management team meetings as a mechanism of cross-checking other service involvement and ensuring that
collaborative working is in place in order to safeguard the YP.
• The RHSW also attends MSET meetings which allows sharing of information from partner services and valuable input regarding the YP who are
known. Police Intelligence is shared and provides added value to the work of the RHSW.
• Links with Residential Homes are developing well and the RHSW is now spending weekly time at the various Children’s Homes with an aim of having
more interactive informal contact with the YP in their own environment. This is going well, and approaches are being made to the RHSW by the young
people. It is hoped that involvement in activities etc can help form trusting relationships that lead to improving successful outcomes and prevention
of missing episodes.
What is the impact
52

• Having a dedicated Return Home Support worker has meant that YP who are reported missing are supported by the same consistent member of staff
who provides a safe space to talk about why they went missing, what happened while they were away and any remaining concerns they may have.
• The new approach is already making a significant impact on the numbers of children engaging in return home support.
Young People Feedback:
‘Was nice meeting you too, its good seeing people face to face rather than over the phone so I really do appreciate you showing your face’
‘Its much better having one person to speak to about it (missing episodes) its much better because you can get to know them and its not just
random people asking you questions’.
‘it’s much better knowing it will be you coming to see me’
‘I think you have ‘mam vibes’ so I feel like I can speak to you and trust you’

Page 92

Number of RHI's oferred and accepted April 2020 - September 2021

100
80

64

86

75

92

80

75

74

69

67

60
40
20
0

16
0.192307692

21

11

13

21

28

29

21

Total

27

75

74

60

55

46
26

87

75

74

16

23

15

21

17

20

19

29

IRI - Accepted

Operation Endeavour
Operation Endeavour is a joint operation between Gateshead Children's Services and Northumbria Police to safeguard children and young people at risk of
harm from going missing. This is an innovative project in which schools and colleges are participating.
Operation Endeavour aims to support children and young people who go missing from home. Children who go missing from home are at risk of significant
harm and they may be vulnerable to sexual exploitation, violent crime, gang exploitation, or to drug and alcohol misuse.

53

As a result, following any report of a child going missing to the Police, the Police will make contact with Children's Social Care who will then communicate
relevant and necessary information to nominated school staff. Each school has members of staff (key adults) who have been fully trained in liaising with
the Police and Children's Social Care when required, and will ensure that the necessary support is made available to the child or young person following
their return
See:

10 things you should know about Operation Endeavour [277.37KB]

Operation Endeavor Process

Page 93

Police receive a report
that a young person has
been reported missing

Operation Endeavour
admin (Specialist Support
Team) notify school key
contacts via email

Police record details of
the young person and
create a CCN (child
concern notification)

CCN sent to Children’s
Social Care

Children’s Social Care
take any further action if
appropriate

School inform relevant
staff

Operation Endeavour
admin notify school
when the young person is
found

Young person supported
as needed when they
return.

The Specialist Support Team are notified of any missing episodes each morning. These notifications are then sent to the school to inform them that the
Young person is / has been reported missing. If the Young Person is still missing and turns up at school the school contact the police to let them know.
Operation Endeavour Notifciations April 2020 - September 2021
200
100
0

10
19

9
24

31
48

18
33

36
50

44
79

25
48

41
59

20
63

33
51

Notifications received

39
43

Number sent to school

54

57
63

47
53

70
89

49
77

44
55

39
50

42
48

Children Missing Education (CME)
See: Children missing education (CME) - Gateshead Council)
Children Missing Education procedures are in place and followed.
Our agreed protocols are in line with the statutory Guidance related to CME (2016).
We also follow recommendations made by Ofsted in a report in (2013) with relation to pupils missing out on education (PMOE) and hold a register
for this – experiences of families on this register are sampled each year.

9.

Summary of other thematic info

Domestic abuse

Page 94

Domestic Abuse Service update
Domestic abuse (DA) and violence is a significant challenge. A highly motivated and skilled team of Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA) have
continued to deliver a service to those that need it throughout the pandemic. Creative working approaches to engage with clients have been implemented.
Remote ways of working have been developed and modified to suit the individual needs of the clients. The use of Teams and e-mail format have provided
the main sources of successful engagement. Programmes such as the START programme and Freedom programme have been re-written and tailored to
better suit remote delivery.
Direct work has also continued with those children who have been deemed to be in greatest need of support from referrals received into the service. The
specialist DA children’s worker has tailored her support to where permissions have been granted to engage with children in schools, sending out activity
packs leading to telephone contact engagements of support; this has worked successful with positive feedback .
Funding from the Police and Crime Commissioner in 2021 has meant that six more staff within the existing team are to be IDVA trained. Training has
started and staff are now working towards completion. The Domestic Abuse team also have two Young Person Violence Advisor (YPVA) recently trained
and a proposal has been written to illustrate how this specialist area of work can be implemented. The proposal outlines how the YPVA workers should
provide a safe and supportive response for teenagers experiencing serious harm from intimate partner abuse or familial domestic abuse.
We are looking at a number of ways in which the YPVA / Domestic Abuse Team could offer support to young people in Gateshead, for example:
Direct work with young people (aged 13-19) who are experiencing domestic abuse or who have harmed a current or former partner, or adult family
member.
Work delivered on a 1:1 basis or in a group setting covering topics such as Expecting Respect, Sexual Consent, Exploitation, Healthy Relationships
and online abuse.
55

Visit educational settings (Schools, Collages, Residential Settings) and Young People’s Services (sexual health, teenage pregnancy, mental health
services) to raise awareness around domestic abuse, exploitation, online abuse, internet safety and healthy relationships.
Education to parents, foster carers and staff working in young people settings (such as Children’s Homes).
Build good working relationships with the local Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) and identify clear referral pathways into the service.
Prevention work with young people identified as perpetrators of domestic abuse.
The Supporting Victims fund enabled the Domestic Abuse Team to work with a local Digital Film company to produce a short film; Children (x3) and Young
People (x2) were approached to take part to tell “their own stories “of living with Domestic Abuse. The Children were supported by the DA specialist
children’s and Young Peoples worker and the very experienced filming team. The Children and Young people shared their stories using Avatars, digital
scanners and Art images. The film has been shown to their families, each other, directors, ward councillors and staff.

Page 95

Between April 2020 – September 2021 a total of 2538 referrals have been made to the Domestic Abuse Team. 869 of these referrals or 34.24% have been
allocated for support. Just over 27% of the referrals received were for cases open to the team. The average monthly referral rate across this time period is
141 with the peak being in July 2020 where a total of 204 referrals were received.
Total Referrals & Allocations to Domestic Abuse Team
April 2020 - September 2021

NO. OF REFERRALS

300
200
100

142
38

204

166

157
50

55

62

151

150

132
52

44

118
52

141

108
41

32

151

109
50

40

54

158

145

118
41

56

133

130
58

54

125
40

50

0
Total Referrals

Case allocated

There are currently ten Domestic Abuse Workers within the team each holding a case load of around 20-25 per FTE. An assessment framework supports
the tailoring of effective support to clients who are referred into the service.
What is the impact
Ofsted reported “Diligent work by staff across all front door teams, including the out of hours service, demonstrates a resolute focus on
understanding the impact of domestic abuse, parental substance misuse, and poor mental health and neglect” (Ofsted 2021).
Face to face engagement and intervention work has continued throughout the pandemic with adherence to safety guidance. A client focused offer
has been maintained as far as possible.
56

Over the last 11 months 1441 referrals have been received into the DA service with 514 leading to successful client engagement (35.6%).
A rolling schedule of the Freedom and START programmes has seen the average attendance of x 8 participants per session over the duration of the
of the programmes .
Evaluations from participants capture the following:
“so pleased I attended it has helped me a lot to understand what my relationship was really like.”
“Excellent- it has helped me understand control”.
“I now realise how DA can affect my children, even when I don’t think they hear!”
“Enjoyed the group work, was a little nervous of doing things on a screen – but it worked”.

Page 96

As a result of the PCC funding, Gateshead DA team will have majority workforce with the accredited IDVA qualification this will provide a greater
enhancement to the high-quality service that is already in place.
Knowledge and skills are shared within the team and is facilitated via Team meetings, peers support and development sessions.
Practice short training sessions are offered to provide insight and awareness into Domestic Abuse to the wider workforce adding a richness
improving understanding and practice when dealing with victims of DA.
By delivering education around healthy relationships this will increase awareness and understanding of domestic abuse. For young people, an
important response to domestic abuse is prevention through education.
Support, feedback and reflection captured how proud the children and young people felt about taking part. Telling their stories and having their
voice heard.
Next steps are to work with the filming team to edit and anonymise; future intentions is to use the film as a training aid as part of the Domestic
Abuse team awareness raising and training.
From September 2020 (commencement of the programme) to December 2021 – 176 referrals have been received.
761 sessions have been completed leading to a breakdown that illustrates a minimum of 13 sessions completed then up to a maximum of 88
sessions completed throughout the time period stated the variation is due to the take up and bespoke offer of the programme.

Behaviour Change Programme
Behaviour Change (Perpetrator programme) is well established and the team of two full time staff offer a bespoke programme to clients.
Following acceptance of referral an assessment process is in place with an aim to ensure the client understands, can demonstrate a willingness to change
behaviours, be accountable for the impact of that behaviour and to develop alternative strategies in order to deal with their beliefs, feelings and emotions
in future relationships. The sessions cover a range of subjects including: Power and Control; Coercive Control; denial and blame; beliefs and gender roles;
feelings and emotions; Impact; Accountability and Empathy.
57

Following the programme commencing in September 2020 between this date and September 2021 a total of 154 referrals have been made to the
Behaviour Change Programme. 145 of these referrals or 94.16% have been allocated for support. The nine referrals received which weren’t allocated were
either declined or deemed not appropriate for the programme.

Page 97

NO. OF REFERRALS

20
19
14

10
0

3

Total Referrals & Allocations to Behaviour Change Programme
September 2020 - September 2021

19

8

3

Sep-2020

18

14

Oct-2020

Nov-2020

8

Dec-2020

6

16
11

6

Jan-2021

Feb-2021

10

Mar-2021

Total Referrals

13

12

Apr-2021

15
10

10

May-2021

10

9

Jun-2021

18
13

Jul-2021

9

16

9

Aug-2021

Sep-2021

Case Allocated

Operation Encompass
Operation Encompass is a police and education early information safeguarding partnership enabling schools to offer immediate support to children
experiencing domestic abuse. Operation Encompass ensures that there is a simple telephone call or notification to a school’s trained Designated
Safeguarding Lead/Officer (known as Key Adult) prior to the start of the next school day after an incident of police attended domestic abuse where there
are children related to either of the adult parties involved. Information is shared with a school’s Key Adult (Designated Safeguarding Lead or Officer) prior
to the start of the next school day after officers have attended a domestic abuse incident. This sharing of information enables appropriate support to be
given, dependent upon the needs and wishes of the child.
Operation Encompass Process:
Police attend a
domestic abuse
incident in a home
where a child is present

police record child
name, age and school

CCN sent to Specialist
Support Team (SST)

SST notify school by
email (2 contacts)

School informs relevant
staff

child supported as
needed

log updated to record
actions

inform SST of response
and actions by email
(within 48hrs)

58

The Specialist Support Team are notified of any missing episodes each morning. The CCNs are also discussed at the morning triage meeting.
Operation Encompass
April 2020 - September 2021
300
200
100
0

Apr-20

May-20

Jun-20

Jul-20

Aug-20

Sep-20

Oct-20

Total number of School responses possible

Nov-20

Dec-20

Jan-21

Feb-21

Mar-21

Total number of School responses received

Apr-21

May-21

Jun-21

Jul-21

Aug-21

Sep-21

Total number of cases

Page 98

Case Study - Grab bag project - Lauren (not real name)
Lauren attended the maternity unit after fleeing domestic abuse. She had travelled to Gateshead as she had a family member living here. The difficulties
that staff faced to get Lauren home to a place of safety highlighted that the trust needed a structured plan and some equipment/products to help support
vulnerable women or men during difficult times such as this. Lauren was supported back to a place of safety and reported that she was grateful for the
help that staff had given. The Named Midwife for safeguarding and Domestic Abuse lead for the trust have worked together to set up the Grab Bag Project.
Although this is still in its infancy, funding has been obtained and charitable funds are in place. Items have been purchased for the bags and we are
awaiting delivery of these. Items include clothing, sanitary products, a phone if appropriate and food vouchers. Transport has also been agreed through the
QE facilities for QE patients in these circumstances.
Youth Justice Service
Divert from Charge
Divert from Charge is a new referral process which will no longer see young people being charged by police unless in extreme cases, such as offences that
could lead to a remand. Instead these cases are referred through to a panel process before a final decision is reached. YJS Police officers apply an eligibility
test which will assess whether an Out of Court option is appropriate. If the young person in question is eligible and willing to engage, they will receive either
a Youth Conditional Caution (YCC) or an Outcome 22 (deferred prosecution).
The “Divert from Charge” Panel is a bolt on to the existing Out of Court Disposal Panels and it has responsibility for:
• deciding on a disposal for each young person;
• developing a diversionary plan for them;
• reviewing compliance;
• and finally closing completed cases or referring a young person to court for non-compliance.
59

There are a number of beneficiaries from the Divert from Charge arrangement. Young people will not be labelled as offenders, this will help to prevent young
people from forming deviant or delinquent identities that may interfere with their development. It will avoid unnecessary disproportionality in the criminal
justice system and tailored diversionary interventions will be therapeutic, targeted, and appropriate whilst avoiding the stigma of conviction. Criminal Justice
Partners and the community also benefit from Divert from Charge as it reduces demand and cost associated with file preparation and court proceedings.
Partners are able to support children and young people who would otherwise become repeat and/or more serious offenders. This innovative way of dealing
with young people went live in May 2021 and will be reviewed in 6 months to ensure it is working effectively.
There have been 30 applications for Divert from Charge so far in Gateshead. Twelve of these have been approved and 18 have been returned to the Officer
in charge of the case.

Page 99

Outcome 22
Continues to be used as an Out of Court disposal. This intervention is a deferred prosecution, meaning the young person will not come through the formal
criminal justice system unless they fail to comply with the programme. This intervention has been extremely successful in reducing the number of first-time
entrants. The use of this disposal has ensured that young people are assessed and have intervention that best meets their individual needs. Working with
the young person and their family it has been possible to divert a significant proportion of children away from the formal youth justice system, which has a
huge impact on the number of young people becoming FTE into the Criminal Justice System.

Targeted Outreach - Gateshead Youth Justice Service funded a summer outreach project. The REAL (Relate, Engage and Listen) Project delivered targeted
outreach youth work in areas across the Borough for three evenings a week. The aim of the Project is to engage with young people in recognised hotspot
areas, offering them safe faces, support and guidance alongside signposting to specialist services. Hotspot locations were co-ordinated via the multi-agency
Operational Planning and Tasking Group co-ordinated by Community Safety.
What is the impact?
• 30 applications for Divert from Charge to date with 12 approved.
• 192 Outcome 22’s delivered over 12 months, resulting in diverting
young people away from the Criminal Justice System.
• First Time entrants dropped significantly since introduction of
Outcome 22 (see below).

60

56

FTE Annual Totals 2017/18 to 2021/22
48

40

39

20
0

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

18

16

2020/21

2021/22

Listening and responding to young people, parents/carers, victims and volunteers is integral to Gateshead YJS. Example of some feedback:
“Mint worker to work with, helped me loads at times even with stuff that was irrelevant to YOT and I appreciate that. Cheers”
“I think Gary is a really good Youth Justice worker. I got on well with him and thought he listened and understood me”.
Is there anything else we could have done for you? “No, everything was “cush”.
60

“Very good and supportive”.
“Made me realise my actions have consequences. And to think before acting where possible”.
“On my reparation sessions I had to litter-pick around Birtley, which was filthy, filling large black sacks to the top with rubbish. This has showed me
how much time I could waste off my life by doing something stupid. I am sorry for what I had done, and it will never happen again. I have learned
from my mistakes.”
“Frank has been really supportive, and he showed me new skills that I can use further on in life, and in my CV.
Gill has offered me tremendous amount of opportunity’s and has been the best YOT worker I could of asked for.
If I’ve needed a hand or even just someone to talk to, I knew Gill would always be a call away.
She’s also helped me develop so many new life skills during the time of my reparation and to help me with day-to-day tasks.”
Case study: Jamie (not real name)
Jamie (17) was referred into the YJS for intervention due to concerns around inappropriate sexual behaviour, however none of these incidents were proven
offences. The Police had significant concerns regarding Jamie’s behaviour but were unable to take formal action.

Page 100

The YJS started to work with Jamie and challenged his behaviour and completed intervention regarding appropriate sexual relationships. There have been
no further incidents to date, Jamie appears to have insight into his actions, understands the concerns and is aware of the consequences of this behaviour in
the future. Jamie recently gave some feedback to his case manager, he said “I never thought I would be able to speak to you as openly as I can. I don’t think
I need to see you anymore as you have helped me get into a better place. Thank You”. The YJS will continue to maintain contact with Jamie to ensure he
remains on a positive pathway.
Two young people were seen on CCTV trespassing on school premises. These two young people have a history of behaviour issues. One young person was
previously open to the YJS and the other was receiving intervention from the Complex Child in Need Team (children’s social care). Both young people have
complex family backgrounds, and both were attending the Pupil Referral Unit (PRU). They were offered the opportunity to take part in restorative work
with the YJS in relation to them trespassing on school property. Both successfully engaged in this intervention and apologised for their behaviour. As a
result of this intervention the police were not contacted, and these young people were not criminalised for their behaviour.
Young person was permanently excluded for having drugs in school, being investigated by police for Possession with intent to Supply. This young person
had no previous Out of Court Disposals or court interventions and is predicted excellent GCSE results. The YJS worked with the young person, family,
education department, substance misuse services, voluntary agencies and Children & Young Peoples Service to put a plan of intervention in place to
support him. A representative from the YJS attended an education meeting and advocated that he should be allowed to return to mainstream education in
a managed way. As a result of this the young person was accepted into another mainstream school.

Permanent exclusions 2020/21
During 2020/21 there were 42 young people permanently excluded from secondary schools, an increase of 13% from the previous year. There were no
primary permanent exclusions.
61

Number of secondary permanent exclusions since 2016/17 academic year:

80

2016/17

57

2017/18

69

2018/19

38

2019/20

42

2020/21

Overall, this data presents a declining picture of permanent exclusions being issued across the Secondary phase. However, it is prudent to note that the
significant reductions have been during periods of national restrictions and school closures due to Covid-19.
Reasons for permanent exclusions in 2020/2021:

Page 101

Reason
Physical assault (pupil)
Physical assault (adult)
Verbal abuse (pupil)
Verbal abuse (adult)
Bullying
Racist incident
Sexual misconduct
Drug/alcohol
Damage
Theft
Persistent disruptive behaviour
Inappropriate use of social media
Other

Breakdown of permanent exclusions 2020/2021 by year group and term:
Number
3
1
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
0
27
1
7

Persistent disruptive behaviour accounts for 64% of all
permanent exclusions in this period.
This reflects the national trend of it being the most common
reason cited in permanent exclusions.

Year Group
Y7
Y8
Y9
Y10
Y11
Total

Autumn
0
4
6
5
4
19

Spring
2
1
1
4
0
8

Summer
4
3
7
1
0
15

Total
6
8
14
10
4
42

Of the 42 young people who were permanently excluded:
• There was a significant increase in Y7 permanent
exclusions from previous year.
• Year 9 remains the year group with the most permanent
exclusions – reflecting the national trend.
• No young people were known to CIN or CP at the point of
permanent exclusion.
• 11% were identified as Special Educational Needs at the
point of exclusion – a 66% reduction from the previous
year.

Conclusion
Overall, there is a declining picture of permanent exclusions within Gateshead schools even with the slight increase in numbers in 2020/2021 from the
previous academic year. This may be the result of national restrictions and school closure but may also be in relation to further improvements in inclusive
62

practice within schools as well as the continuing success of our fair access protocols. Schools have however reported an increased level of poor behaviour
following the pandemic which will likely have a more long-term impact than was originally anticipated.
We are aiming to develop the core offer for secondary age young people who have had a failed managed move agreed through Pupil Placement Panel
under the category related to behaviour via an assessment period at River Tyne Academy. This will give schools extra evidence and strategies to explore
need and give sharply focused support to help their students to better succeed in their mainstream setting.
Elective Home Education (EHE) 2020/2021
There have been 247 children/ young people on Gateshead’s elective home education register this year, a 20% increase from 2019-20.
Overall, there has been a significant increase over the last 10 years in families choosing to electively home educate in Gateshead (36 children/young people
in 2010/2011 to 247 in 2020/2021). This increase is in keeping with the national trend. Throughout the year the number of electively home educated
children/young people is fluid – as some leave school to be electively home educated and others return to school after a period of elective home education
or leave the area.

Page 102

Furthermore:



47 children left Gateshead primary schools to be EHE this year; representing a significant increase from the previous year (22)
36 CYP were removed from school to be EHE in September 2020. This was 89% higher than any previous monthly figure over the last 4 years, in
part highlighting parents’ concerns regarding Covid



1938 CYP returned to school after a period of EHE this year; an increase on previous years. 8 of these were children who returned to primary
schools



7 parents were referred to the Legal Intervention Team for School Attendance Orders due to limited evidence that a suitable education was being

provided and would not agree to their child returning to school via Primary Fair Access/Secondary Fair Access - Pupil Placement Panel (PPP)





6 children were identified as Child Protection/Child in Need and the EHE Officer attended meetings with regards to this.
6 children had a Team Around the Family and the EHE Officer attended meetings in relation to this.
38 children received a home visit
132 home education reports were written and sent.

(Note: due to Covid-19 restrictions there was a significant reduction in home visits but an increase in parents preparing and sending reports)
63

Children’s Centres & Play Service
During the time period of this report, children’s centre and play staff were redeployed to other areas of the service, to where capacity and support was
required. This included supporting the community hubs and schools. This meant that face to face activities were limited; a summary is included below:
Children Centre Groups & activities
887 sessions in period.
Attended by 1,609 families - 1,989 children (under 5 years) and 1,678 adults.
26 Enhanced Parenting Pathway referrals.

38

32

Universal
School

96

271
Children with disabilities

Page 103

Play Service - HOLIDAY ACTIVITIES (spring, may & summer)
758 children – see chart for referral routes.
3,926 attendances.
Respite, social opportunities, physical activity, Sensory play & fun!
Specialist sensory equipment, activity packs and healthy snacks provided via
holiday activities and food funding.
The summer programme definitely benefitted us as parents. MOST
IMPORTANTLY it benefited [child] as it allowed him to explore
different avenues which in turn really engaged his brain and
allowed him to regulate his emotions better.

Early Help (TFS)
131
Children's Social Care

190

Cared for Children

[child] really struggles being out of routine so the fact you could provide
a day of activities for him was a big relief.. took a lot of pressure off us as
parents..

Community outreach and Saturday clubs

36 children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities aged 5-17 years
479 attendances
Average 13.30 sessions attended per child / young person
Essential respite, social opportunities, physical activity, sensory play & fun!

64

It has been so beneficial to [child], reducing
her anxiety and enabling her to mix with
friends that she no longer sees now she has
left Gibside school.
Staff are always friendly and professional
and it is clear that they know [child] well.
[child] is equally comfortable with all staff
and her face lights up when she arrives.

10. Child deaths
The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is a multi-agency panel which aims to scrutinise the circumstances surrounding each child's death and where
appropriate, provide challenge to the agencies involved to further enhance the learning, as well as make recommendations to the appropriate agencies to
improve service delivery and patient experience.
The CDOP will in each case classify the cause of death, identify contributory factors, identify any modifiable factors (those which can be changed through
national or local interventions) and make recommendations to prevent future similar deaths, or improve the safety and welfare of children in the local area
and further afield. Ascertain why a child has died by a thorough but proportionate review of the facts and circumstances surrounding the death.
Child Death Overview Panel – Annual Report (2020–2021)
This is the first annual report of the joint North and South of Tyne Child Death Overview Panel (N&S Tyne CDOP) formed on April 2020, which contains a
summary of the activity carried out by the panel across the 6 LA areas represented: Gateshead, Newcastle, Northumberland, North Tyneside, South
Tyneside and Sunderland.

Page 104

In 2020/21 there were a total of 82 child death reviews across Northumberland, North Tyneside, Newcastle, Gateshead, South Tyneside and Sunderland
(North and South of Tyne), 16 for Gateshead. The highest number of child deaths were below the age of 27 days. A child is most at risk of death within the
first year of life, and particularly within the first 27 days of life.
Modifiable factors
A modifiable factor is defined as something which: “may have contributed to the death of the child and which, by means of locally and nationally
achievable interventions, could be modified to reduce the risk of future child deaths”.
There were 6 out of 16 (37%) modifiable factors identified in the Gateshead reviews. Of the 82 cases reviewed in 2020 /2021, modifiable factors were
identified in 27 cases, and in four cases, several factors were deemed modifiable. NCMD national data shows the North East rate was 31% and the national
rate was 34%.
Many of the top 11 modifiable factors identified in 2019/2020 by the national child mortality database are reflected in the findings in this report.
Actions taken to reduce child deaths across the CDOP footprint
The promotion and implementation of ICON across the footprint (ICON is an evidence-based programme which has been supported by NHSE to
reduce abusive head trauma in infancy (ABH) which is100% preventable).
Work between primary care and acute trusts to highlight the association between asthma and food allergies.
Administration of first aid to schools following the ingestion of drugs.
65

Safer sleeping campaigns.
NHSE are reviewing the consent process after cases highlighted to them of children not receiving their flu vaccine.
Development of a training package explaining the CDR process.
Attendance at national webinars to share practice and learning.
See: CDOP Annual Report 2020-2021 for more information

11. Training

Page 105

The Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership, Safeguarding Adults Board and Gateshead Community Safety Board have produced a comprehensive
joint training programme which is free for partner agencies operating in Gateshead. The training programme and information regarding courses can be
accessed via the GCSP website.
During the pandemic nearly all training was moved to virtual delivery. This was initially quite challenging, however as learners have become accustomed to
virtual delivery, we have seen course numbers increase and in future we will be looking at offering a mix of both virtual and face to face sessions.

The eLearning offer for safeguarding courses has also been developed over the past year, in light of the Covid restrictions it has been necessary to provide
a range of learning and development options.
Some providers requested specific sessions to suit their needs and discuss the changes and challenges they had experienced in their services during the
pandemic.
Between April 2020 and September 2021, 38 GSCP training events were delivered to workers across the partnership. Evaluation of the training is carried
out through evaluation forms which are now sent out electronically via Microsoft forms. The evaluation measures not only the increase in knowledge
during the training but asks learners to identify how they will use the training in their role to improve outcomes for children and young people.
The pandemic raised concerns from providers surrounding child mental health, self-harm and eating disorders. Multi-agency partners benefitted from
training delivered by experts in these fields. This training encourages agencies to develop a universal and proportionate approach to identifying and
responding to child metal health issues.
It has been identified during several training sessions that professionals do not always feel confident when asking questions about the men in the family
home. GSCP commissioned ‘Hidden men’ training with the aim of facilitating discussion and addressing concerns about engaging with men in safeguarding
and promoting the welfare of children. This training also acknowledged values and context around issues of gender and fatherhood.
66

Responses from impact evaluation questionnaires highlighted the positive impact that the training had on learners’ thinking and practice.
‘The course made me reflect on the importance of how we need to actively encourage good practice and inclusion of all males’ (Hidden Men- family
intervention worker).
‘Based on the discussion today, I will have a more considered approach to the dialogue that I have with individuals that are presenting to my
department with self-harm’ (Self Harm- Health care professional).
‘I will be more aware of the signs of exploitation in young people, and I learned a lot about the language of OCG's’ (Child criminal exploitation,
sexual exploitation, and trafficking – Charity attendee).
‘I will promote more research and understanding within the team to promote better /safer practices for the young people in our care’ (safeguarding
young people in the digital world- Residential care office).
‘I Gained enough knowledge to be able to deliver some level of education in schools and know where to signpost for support’ (Knife crime Awareness
- Schools).
‘I will consider the voice of the child more’ (Common Assessment framework – Early help worker).

Page 106

Despite increasing pressures on partner agency staff, we have a skilled pool of trainers who deliver a lot of our sessions “in house”, but we also have the
resources to commission specialist sessions when appropriate.

We continue to carry out work to ensure that our training has an impact on frontline staff to ensure that the sessions lead to improved outcomes and
provide the Partnership with best value for money.
TWFRS and Tyneside Mind delivered training to firefighters who may be in first attendance, when an individual present at bridges and heights.

12.

Gateshead Health and Wellbeing Strategy

This is the overarching strategy for Gateshead Council. It has been developed and
agreed by our strategic partners and it will be delivered in collaboration with
different organisations across the whole partnership (recognising the importance
of working together and breaking down boundaries between organisations and
services).
The Gateshead Safeguarding Children Partnership is working with the Health and
Wellbeing Board to deliver on the actions set put in the strategy, and in particular,
the aim to give every child the best start in life:
67

Page 107
See: Gateshead Health and Wellbeing Strategy

68

Appendix 1:

Action Plan (2019 – 2021)

Thematic Priorities
Lead Officer

Target Date

Comments

Outcome

Receive reports throughout the year regarding
partner engagement with young people including
case studies and examples of good practice.

Business Manager
(all Board
members to
contribute)

ongoing

This is a standing agenda item at GSCP meeting.

Ongoing

Through new or existing arrangements seek the
views of children on safeguarding issues and
represent these to the GSCP.

Business Manager
(all Board
members to
contribute)

Ongoing

Online form circulated via GSCP to identify
engagement groups that can be used to seek
views of children and young people. Three
Young Ambassadors employed by the council,
with allocated workstreams.

Ongoing

Suggest inspections the young inspectors can
undertake throughout the year and what they can
get involved with to help improve and develop
services.

Business Manager
(all Board
members to
contribute)

April 2020

Young inspectors work was put on hold, due to
the pandemic. This will be picked up in 2022.

Not started

Ongoing

There was plans to hold an event during 2020,
but this didn’t happen due to the pandemic.
Partners and GSCP members did attend CYP
events being held virtually by partner agencies,
where possible. We also received updates from
participation workers across the partnership.

Not started

Ongoing

Regular reports to GSCP. Mental Health is a
priority area for HWBB, safeguarding partners
are fully engaged and involved with this work.
The new Gateshead System Board will take a
lead on evaluation of ‘single point of access’
service and KOOTH. Members of GSCP also
attend System Board, which ensures good links.

Ongoing

Action

Voice of the child

Page 108

Host an engagement event with Board members
and young people and seek the views of young
people on GSCP priorities.

Business Manager

Mental health & Emotional Wellbeing
Receive assurances that mental health services
commissioned for children in Gateshead are
adequate in terms of safeguarding, including
waiting times.

Executive Director,
Patient Safety and
Designated Nurse,
CCG

69

Through good links with the Health & Wellbeing
Board (HWBB), continue the GSCP oversight of
CAMHS and the “whole system” approach to
Emotional Wellbeing, specifically with regard to
emotional resilience for CYP.

Independent Chair
& Business
Manager

Ongoing

Good links with HWBB, and the new Systems
Board, through membership and sharing of
information. Mental Health is a clear priority are
for HWBB and safeguarding partners are linked
in.

Ongoing

Child Exploitation & Missing Children

Page 109

The Joint Strategic Sexual Exploitation Group will
oversee multi-agency support for children and their
families through MSET and Return Home Interview
arrangements.

Lead on the bespoke Tackling Child Exploitation
(TCE) support project on behalf of the region,
promote good partner engagement and facilitate
discussions.

Develop regional protocol (regional collaboration)
Ensure that missing children interviews are being
undertaken in a timely manner and that information
is being used to help disrupt and prevent further
exploitation.

Strategic JSEG
Chair

May 2020

Business Manager
(in liaison with BM
Network)

November
2020

Business Manager
(via BM Network)
Strategic JSEG
Chair

Ongoing

Ongoing
70

Missing protocol has been updated, all children
who go missing will be offered RHI, regardless of
how long they have been missing. The missing
process and RHIs will be kept under regular
review.
The application submitted on behalf of partners
across the region was successful. Discussions
with Research in Practice and partners to
commence January to develop project
specification (by March 2020), with view to
agree delivery after April 2020; there were
initial delays due to covid.
Project T&F group was set up and included
relevant partners (across Northumbria Police
force area), and also representation from
Violence Reduction Unit.
The project concluded in August 2021.
See Project Learning Report
This is being included with the regional work
that is ongoing. Regional Protocol should be in
place by April 2022.
A full-time dedicated post was created to
undertake RHIs. We are already seeing impact
and information from RHIs is being used to
inform disruption.

Complete

complete

In progress

Complete

Complete a review of MSET and evaluate
effectiveness and impact (regional collaboration)

Complete an audit of the effectiveness of multiagency working in improving outcomes for children
identified as at risk of exploitation (sexual and
criminal)

Business Manager
(via BM Network)

July 2020

Regional

March 2021

Page 110
71

Work continued to review MSET process and a
task group set up. A summary report including
recommendations was shared with the regional
safeguarding partnership. Also discussed at
JSEG.
It was initially anticipated that this would be
included in the bespoke TCE support project,
but the project ended up being re data. This
audit will be carried out during 2022, using
cases discussed at MSET to follow the journey of
the child through the system, focusing on
impact and outcomes. (what difference have we
made?)

Complete

Not started

